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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS

Mr Mo Fumin

Age 61. Chinese. Non-Independent Non-Executive Director amar@an of the Board of Directors. Attended six out of the
seven Board meetings held in the financial year. Appointed ¢oBbard on 13 February 2014. Holds a PhD in Economics
from Peking University, China.

Mr Mo Fumin has been with Industrial and Commercial Bank of @Hiimited (“ICBC”) Group for the past 25 years holding
various positions such as General Manager (“GM”), ICBC (Almatyaféh 1998 - April 2001), Deputy GM, Corporate
Banking Department (April 2001 - June 2002), Deputy GM, Corporadaekiig & Investment Banking Department (June
2002 - January 2007), GM of Corporate Banking Department (Janu&¥ 28ay 2013) and Chairman of ICBC (Moscow)
(December 2013 - June 2015).

Mr Mo Fumin has no conflict of interest with the Bamidéhas no family relationship with any other Director.

Mr Yuan Bin

Age 46. Chinese. Non-Independent Executive Director. Appdirib the Board on 28 May 2014. Attended all the seven
Board meetings held in the financial year. Holds at®feand Doctorate degree from Nankai University, Tiar@inina.

Mr Yuan Bin started his career with ICBC in 1991. He was entrusighl several strategic positions, ranging from Deputy
GM of Internatione Departmer (1997 - 1998 anc Deputy GM of Humar Resourc (199¢ - 2000 of Tianjin Branch Branct
Manager of Tianjin XiQing Branch Office (2000 - 2003), Head of megional Settlement Division and Deputy GM of
International Department at ICBC Head Office (2003 - 2007) as a®President Director of PT Bank ICBC Indonesia from
September 2007 till April 2014. He is currently the &litxecutive Officer/Managing Director of the Bank.

Mr Yuan Bin has no conflict of interest with the Bank and has noifamelationship with any other Director. He is also a
member of the Nominating Committee of the Bank.

YBhg Dato’ Leong Khee Seong

Age 77. Malaysian. Independent Non-Executive Director. Apfeal to the Board on 3 June 2010. Attended all the seven
Board meetings held in the financial year. Engineer by professitm B.E. (Chemical Engineering) from the University of
New South Wales, Australia.

YBhg Dato' Leong Khee Seong served the Malaysian Governmeheddinister of Primary Industries (1976 - 1986) and was
a member of Parliament (1974 - 1990). He was a former Chairman of thep&®f 14 ASEAN Economic Cooperation and
Integration (1986 - 1987) and General Trade Agreement on Tariffs aade™ Negotiating Committee on Tropical Products
(1986 - 1990). He was formerly an Independent Non-Executive Diregftsin Chew Media Corporation (2004 - 2007),
AirAsia Berhad (2004 - 2013) and TSH Resources Berhad (2005 - 2@14jel as a Non-Independent Executive Director
cum Executive Chairman of Nanyang Press Holdings Berhad (200009)2 He is currently the Chancellor of HELP
University Malaysia (April 2012 - current).

YBhg Dato’ Leong Khee Seong has no conflict of interest with Bamnk and has no family relationship with any other
Director. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and Matimng Committee and a member of the Board Risk
Management Committee and Remuneration CommitteeedB&mk.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Mr Ong Ah Tin @ Ong Chee Kwee

Age 65. Malaysian. Independent Non-Executive Director. Apfeal to the Board on 3 June 2010. Attended all the seven
Board meetings held in the financial year. Holds a Bachelor of Bgree in Economics from the University of Malaya and
Diploma in Banking from Institute of Bankers, London.

Mr Ong Ah Tin started his banking career with Citibank Malay@ren known as First National City Bank) as a Management
Trainee in 1973 and held various positions in Operations, Grediitl Marketing until August 1988 when he left as the Vice
President of Credit Risks Management Department. In 1988, inedoMalaysian French Bank as an Assistant General
Manager until 1994, thereafter he joined OUB Finance Berhad ieector/General Manager. After the merger of OUB
Finance Berhad with its parent bank, Overseas Union Bank (M) Barh&997, he was assigned to Overseas Union Bank (M)
Berhad as Head of Enterprise Banking until 2002. Following,that joined Alliance Finance Berhad as Acting CEO to
manage the finance company’s operations and to undertake themwdrdlliance Finance Berhad with its parent bank,
Alliance Bank Malaysia Berhad. Upon the successful compietfcthe merger in 2004, he was assigned as a Senior General
Manager and Head of Consumers Banking of Alliance Bank MaaBsrhad until August 2005, when he retired from the
banking industry. Mr Ong Ah Tin served as an Independent Norclikee Director of Hock Sin Leong Group Berhad from
April 2006 to December 2006.

Mr Ong Ah Tin has no conflict of interest with the Bank and has muifarelationship with any other Director. He is also the
chairman of the Board Risk Management Committee and Remuoer@dmmittee and a member of the Audit Committee
and Nominating Committee of the Bank.

Ms Lan Li

Age 52. Chinese. Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. Aped to the Board on 16 January 2012. Attended six out of
the seven Board meetings held in the financial year. Holds a PhBcbnomics and Bachelor of Finance from Tianjin
University of Finance Economics, China and Master nafce from Nankai University, China.

Ms Lan Li has served various roles within ICBC Group ranging from MgnaAccounting and Settlement Department of
ICBC'’s Frankfurt Office (July 1999 - August 2002), General Managesrhtional Banking Department and President of
Ronghui Branch, Tianjin Regional Headquarters (August 2002telégr 2004), Vice Head of Internal Audit (October 2004 -
May 2005), Deputy Head, Tianjin Regional Headquarters (Jun®& 2@@ecember 2010) to Vice Head of Internal Auditing
(December 2010 - July 2011). She has been a Director of AccreblitedExecutive Directors Management Division of
Corporate Strategy and Investor Relations of ICBC since Julyl 24nd also serves as a Non-Independent Non-Executive
Director of ICBC (Thailand) (2011 - current), ICBC (London) (2012 fremt) and ICBC (USA) (2012 - current). Ms Lan Li
currently also acts as a Supervisor of ICBC-AXA Assurdbae Ltd (China) (January 2015 - current).

Ms Lan Li has no conflict of interest with the Bank and has no fgmélationship with any other Director. She is a member of
the Audit Committee, Nominating Committee and Reeration Committee of the Bank.

Mr Hong Guilu

Age 49. Chinese. Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. Aped to the Board on 16 January 2012. Attended all the
seven Board meetings held in the financial year. Holds a Bacloél&Engineering and Master of Economics (Industrial

Economics) from Harbin Institute of Technology, China and Re&epUniversity of China, respectively, and Master of

Accounting from George Washington University, Unitedt&s.

Prior to joining ICBC Group, Mr Hong Guilu was appointed as Mgera State Property Administration Bureau of Ministry of
Finance (July 1993 - June 2000) and Deputy Director, Board of ISigoes of Agricultural Bank of China (July 2000 - June
2003). He was appointed Director, Board of Supervisors of ICBC ig 2003 prior to his appointment as Director of
Accredited Non-Executive Directors Management Division of ©ospe Strategy and Investor Relations of ICBC in
December 2005 until current. Mr Hong Guilu also serves as a Ndependent Non-Executive Director of ICBC (Almaty)
and ICBC (Moscow) since 2011.

Mr Hong Guilu has no conflict of interest with the Bank and hasfamily relationship with any other Director. He is a
member of the Risk Management Committee, Nominatiom@ittee and Remuneration Committee of the Bank.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR

The Bank registered a profit before tax (“PBT”) of RM40.2 million fandincial year 2015, surpassing previous year's PBT of
RM26.7 million by 50.6%. The overall improved net interest imepand higher non-interest income have been the two major
factors contributing to the better financial performancthefBank in year 2015.

For financial year 2015, the Bank’s net interest income and nterést income of RM70.1 million and RM36.5 million,
respectively, had improved by 19.0% and 37.1% as compared to8E®M&illion and RM26.6 million recorded in 2014
despite the increase in overhead expenses of RM6.3 milliod.&€4 in the reporting year mainly due to additional staff force
to support the growth and business expansion of th&.Ba

Loan and advances registered a growth by RM317.6 million 0r944m2015 to RM2.5 billion as compared to RM2.2 billion
recorded in 2014, despite a marginal increase in the Bank’s tegat®from RM4.04 billion in 2014 to RM4.07 billion as at
end of year 2015. Nonetheless, the impact on the increasainadod advances was offset with a decrease in cash and short-
term funds by RM341.7 million in 2015.

The Bank’s total liabilities remained stable at RM3.7 billias at end of year 2015 despite a significant change in deposits
composition. In particular, deposits from customers increased® .4 billion or 69.8% to RM3.3 billion in 2015 as
compared to RM1.9 billion recorded in 2014 as oppose to a reduittideposits and placements of banks and other financial
institutions by RM1.3 billion or 81.9%, from RM1.6 lxgih to RM298.7 million, over the same period.

In 2016, the Bank will continue to grow its core lending busgé@s a strategic manner and to focus on sustaining its
profitability within a robust capital management framewo

OUTLOOK FOR 2016

The World Bank and International Monetary Fund forecasted thigagleconomy to grow at 2.9% and 3.4%, respectively, in
2016. Among the factors to weigh on global growth include sharpen-expected slowdown in major emerging and
developing economies while the crisis-related legacies wooiidinue to constrain the modest growth of advanced economies
The volatility in global financial markets, capital flows, cunges, commodity prices and global trade would remain as the
key risk drivers while the divergence in the monetary policies ugneven growth prospect in the major economies and the
spill-over effects of geo-political tensions could disrtle revitalization of the growth momentum.

As a trade-oriented nation, Malaysia has fairly diversified itsneoay with service sector accounted for 53.5% and
manufacturing sector contributed 23% of the nation's GDP in52@onsidering the fundamentals are to remain intact,
Malaysia's economy is expected to grow within the range of 4.8%.5% in 2016, as compared to 5% growth registered in
2015. Growth would continue to be driven by domestic demant stipport from net exports, albeit at a more subdued pace
due to both domestic and external headwinds. While the extéactors, such as pace of recovery in the major export
markets, the stability of the commodity prices, currencies apital flows, would remain as the key factors in driving the
growth momentum of Malaysia, the measures to be taken doralgtice crucial in capitalizing the growth prospects. Among
the essential domestic measures include prioritizing thee@mphtation of the strategic initiatives under the Governieent
Economic Transformation Program that could effectively diversifythe economy with value-added multiplier effects,
gradual rationalization of macro-financial risks posed by systéde leverage and inflationary pressures, continuous fiscal
consolidation as well as promoting regional collabiorstin trade and investment.

Against the backdrop of a strong economic and financial tiewdxat China and Malaysia, the Bank is committed to bridge
the economic and financial needs of the investors and traders fotimcountries. The Bank would also aim to expand its
targeted markets and achieve a leadership position in its rsegment, by leveraging on the Bank’s IT infrastructure and
multiple distribution networks of ICBC worldwide.

Going forward, the Bank continues to expand the customer batemmances the financial products and services to better
serve the needs of its customers. In addition, the Bank cagitmpursue a series of branding exercise to further promote the
wide acceptance of retail financial products in domestic maxkbile at the same time deepening the relationships with its
valued clients and customers.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Industrial and CommerciahBaf China (Malaysia) Berhad (“the Bank”) recognises
the importance of adopting good corporate governance in disclggitg responsibilities for value creation and safeguarding
interests of the shareholders and stakeholders whilegbirarhigh standard of integrity, transparency and aceduility.

The Board has endeavoured to ensure that the Bank’s internal pescasd systems are in compliance with Bank Negara
Malaysia's (“BNM") Guidelines on Corporate Governance for Liceshinstitutions (“CG Guidelines”) and other relevant best
practices of corporate governance.

Board Composition

Currently, the Board comprises six members, with one Non-Indegrgnon-Executive Chairman, one Non-Independent
Executive Director, two Independent Non-Executive Directord amo Non-Independent Non-Executive Directors. A brief
profile of each member of the Board is presented on gaged 3 of these financial statements.

The Independent Directors account for one-third of the Board ceitipo, in compliance with BNM’s CG Guidelines in
terms of minimum number of independent director. They are nailied in the day-to-day management of the Bank nor do
they participate in any business dealings of the Bank. Thise &scertain their independence in carrying out their roles and
responsibilities as independent non-executive directors

The Non-Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Bank castito proactively engage with the Senior Management to
ensur that various concern anc issue relevan to the managemel anc oversigh of the busines anc operation of the Bank
which are Group related are properly addressed.

Duties and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board governs the business and affairs of the Bank with cld&gbooation with the Senior Management. The Board
exercises all such powers conferred by the Articles of AssociaimhShareholder's Mandate as well as in accordance to the
Terms of Reference of the Board. The Shareholder's Marsda@eiewed on an annual basis.

To ensure effectiveness in discharging its duties and respbtisthithe Board delegates its specific authorities to thevegle
Board committees namely Audit Committee (“AC”), Board Risk Mgement Committee (“BRMC”), Nominating Committee
(“NC”) and Remuneration Committee (“RC”) as expressly stipdatn the terms of reference of the respective Board
committees.

The Board assumes the following key duties and redpubtiss:
(a) Business Strategy, Direction and Operation

The Board plays a pivotal role in reviewing the Bank’s stratediesjness plans, financial objective and budget, risk strategy
and appetites, and determining the effectiveness oaridicapital management framework of the Bank.

The Board ensures that clear objectives and policies are isstadh] within which the Senior Management of the Bank is to
operate. These include strategic planning, credit manageamhtcontrol, assets and liabilities management, effective
oversight of data management and management informstsbem of the Bank.

The Board had approved the 5-year Business Plan (2014-2018) ianibec 2014 encompassing financial objectives,
strategies and action plans to be undertaken byah& Bver the next 5 years.

A performance assessment methodology for Senior Managememaldwabeen implemented through which the performance
of the Senio Managemer in carryin¢ oul the strategie anc policies will be systematicall anc objectively reviewec anc
assessed by the Board on a yearly basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)

Duties and Responsibilities of the Boardcontinued)

(b) Risk Management, Internal Control and GovernanceeBses

The Board has the responsibilities to review and ensure the efeetss and comprehensiveness of risk management policies,
processes and infrastructure to identify, measure, monitor artdotati risk categories in key areas of the Bank’s operation
and the maintenance of a sound internal control system

The Board reviews the risk management capabilities perioglitalbupport the business expansion and ensure the adequacy
of the internal controls of the Bank within the Bank’s defined riglpetite and tolerance level, and framework of laws and
policies. Also, more importantly the Board exercises oversighiction on the overall Anti-Money Laundering/Counter
Financing Terrorism (“AML/CFT”) measures undertaken byBlaak.

Risk management has been the collective responsibilityeBtbard, Senior Management and every employee of the Bank.
Each individual is expected to promote self-regulation and lmewable for his/her own activities as well as to maintain
ethical principles and behaviour in the daily business cotglurhe state of compliance with laws, regulations and ialern
policies and procedures are reported to AC, BRMC an@dtiaed on a quarterly basis.

The Board governs the adequacy and integrity of the Bank’s iriteomdrol system. With the support of the AC and Internal
Auditors, the Board ensures that there is an effective and efficiemefnaork for reporting internal control weaknesses and
regulatory non-compliance or breaches.

The Boarc hac on 8 Decembe 2015 approve: the establishmel of a guideline to asses the performanc of compliance risk
management and internal audit functions of the Bank with theative to preserve the independency of these functions while
carrying out their duties and responsibilities.

Roles of the Chairman and CEO/MD

Mr Mo Fumin, the Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman, rgasahe affairs of the Board with a view to ensure that the
Board functions effectively and meets its obligations and resipdities. He ensures all Members of the Board have the
opportunity to express their views, opinions and ideagroper decision making of the Board.

At the highest executive level, Mr Yuan Bin, who currently lottie CEO/MD position, assumes the overall responsibilities
for the execution of the Bank’s strategies and plans in line with Board’s direction, oversees the overall operation and
drives the businesses and performance towards achieving thésRésikn and goals. In carrying out his tasks, the CEO/MD

is supported by the Senior Management Committee, the membersich comprises of CEO/MD as the Chairman, Deputy

CEOs, Assistant CEO and Chief Compliance Officer as agebther Management Committees of the Bank.

Director’s Appointment and Re-election
(a) Appointment of Directors

The NC is guided by BNM's CG Guidelines to ensure the Board membave the appropriate fitness and propriety to
properly discharge their prudential responsibilities on appmémt and during the course of their appointment. A fit and
proper assessment is carried out for each Director and identiigdrianagement personnel in accordance to the Fit and
Proper Policy of the Bank.

As for the re-appointment of the existing Directors, the NC referhéorésults of the individual assessments conducted via
the Board Performance Evaluation besides their on-goteggictions with the Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)
Director’s Appointment and Re-election(continued)

The application for the appointment or re-appointment of Daectvill be submitted to BNM for consideration once the same
is approved by the Board.

(b) Re-election of Directors

All Directors, except for MD, are subject to retirement by rotatiBorsuant to Article 73 of the Articles of Association, at
least one-third of the Board is subject to retirement by rotatioeaah Annual General Meeting. Retiring directors can offer
themselves for re-election.

Board Performance Evaluation

The Bank has since 2011 undertaken the Board Performance Egaleagrcise annually on the Board and Board committees
with the objective to assess their effectiveness laaddf the individual Directors.

The evaluation is based on a combination of self and peesss®mt performed via a customised questionnaire. The overall
evaluation results will be tabled to the NC and the Board for ictamation. Each Director is provided with the individual
results on each area of assessment for personal information anerfumjprovement. The results of the Director’s self and
peer evaluation also form part of the basis for evaludgyotme NC for the re-appointment of the respective Dirsct

Assessment of Independen

The Independent Directors are required to provide their confirmatom their compliance with the criteria and definition of
“Independent Director” as stipulated in BNM’'s CG Glides.

Information Access

The Board members may interact directly with the Managemenrkjregtheir clarifications and advices as well as request for
information on matters pertaining to the Bank’s operation or assinconcerns. The Board members regularly obtain the
advice and dedicated support services of the Company Secnetanguring the effective functioning of the Board. Should the
need arise, the Directors may also seek independent profesaivriaés at the Bank’s expense, when deemed necessary, for
the proper discharge of their duties.

Conduct of Board Meetings

The Board meets seven times a year with additional meetinggeoed when urgent and important decisions need to be taken
between the scheduled meetings. Due notice is given for thedsted meetings and matters to be dealt with. All Board
meeting proceedings are properly recorded, includingssdiscussed and conclusions made.

Agenda for each Board meeting and papers relating to the agesmda dre disseminated to all Directors well before the
meeting, to provide sufficient time for the Directors to review tt@aRl papers and seek clarifications from the Management,
if required. Where urgency prevails and if appropriate, decisioaskso taken by way of a Directors’ Circular Resolution in
accordance with the Articles of Association.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)
Conduct of Board Meeting(continued)

A total of seven meetings were held for the financial year endeD&cember 2015. The attendance of each Director in office
at the Board Meetings held in the financial year 281det out below:

Directors Independent/Non-Independent Attendance at meetings
Mo Fumin Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman 6/7 (86%)
Yuan Bin Non-Independent Executive Director 717 (100%)
Dato’ Leong Khee Seong Independent Non-Executive Director 717 (100%)
Ong Ah Tin @ Ong Chee Kwee Independent Non-Executive Director 717 (100%)
Lan Li Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 6/7 (86%)
Hong Guilu Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 717 (100%)

All Directors in office as at 31 December 2015 have complied withrequired minimum Board Meetings attendance of 75%
under BNM’s CG Guidelines.

Board Committees

Specific responsibilities have been delegated to the relé¥aatd committees, all of which have written terms of reference.
Thest committee have oversigh authoritie: to examine and/o conside all matter: within their scop¢ of responsibilit anc
make recommendations to the Board for approval, if required. Thutes of the committees’ meetings are tabled to the
Board for information.

The Board committees are as follows:

(i) Audit Committee;

(i) Board Risk Management Committee;
(iif) Nominating Committee; and

(iv) Remuneration Committee.

Audit Committee

The objective of the AC is primarily to assist the Board in provglindependent oversight of the Bank’s financial reporting,
internal control system, risk management function aneigance processes.

The Committee with the assistance of both external and intautitors, where deemed appropriate, reviews the integrity and
reliability of the Bank's financial statements on a yearly oarterly basis, prior to recommending the same for the Board's
approval.

The Committee also meets twice a year with the external agditdthout the presence of the Management, for discussion on
any key issues/areas that require attention of the Giteenand the Board.

The Committee also undertakes an assessment of the stjtabiti independence of the external auditors based on quglifyin
criteria for the appointment of auditors and terms of engagenemiscordance with BNM’s Guidelines on External Auditors.

Having reviewed and satisfied with their performance, the Cotemiwvill recommend the re-appointment of the external
auditors to the Board, upon which the shareholder’s &ppwall be sought at the Annual General Meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)

Board Committees(continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, a total ofrgetings were held. The Committee comprises of the

following members and the details of attendance of each membtlre Committee meetings held during the year are as
follows:

Members of AC Independent/Non-Independent Attendance at meetings
Dato’ Leong Khee Seong Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director 6/6 (100%)
Ong Ah Tin @ Ong Chee Kwee Independent Non-Executive Director 6/6 (100%)
Lan Li Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 6/6 (100%)

The salient terms of reference of the AC are as follows:

= to oversee the functions of the Internal Audit Department (“IARY)d ensuring compliance with relevant regulatory
requirements;

= to review and approve the annual audit plan including audieabjes, scope and resources allocation as well as
subsequent changes thereof;

= to review internal audit findings/reports, Management’s respoasavell as remedial actions and follow-up on status of
rectification;

= to review and discuss with the external auditors and Managewerthe fairness of presentation and transparent
reporting of the financial statements and timely patian of the financial accounts;

= to appoint, set compensation, evaluate performance and denidke transfer and dismissal of the Chief Internal
Auditor;

= to review adequacy and effectiveness of the internal controlsiskdnanagement processes with clear line of reporting
is established for timely communication of issues;

= to select and recommend the external auditors for appointmehtresappointment by Board annually, including
removal of the external auditors, where relevant;

= to review and approve the provision of non-audit services by thereal auditor so as to ensure that the provision of
non-audit services does not interfere with the exerdigelependent judgement of auditors;

= to review related party transactions and keep the Bo&odned of such transactions; and

= to ensure that independent audits are conducted to assed$ettteveness of the policies, procedures and controls for
AML/CFT measures within the Bank and also the measures areanlith the latest developments and changes of the
relevant AML/CFT requirements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)

Board Committees(continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

Internal Audit Function

The Bank has an internal audit function undertaken by the IAD guided by the Internal Audit Charter. The IAD reports
functionally to the AC. The IAD's primary role is to assist the A€ discharging its duties and responsibilities by
independently reviewing and reporting on the adequacy and e#eeiss of the Bank’s risk management, internal control
system and governance processes.

The AC approves the annual audit plan of the Bank at the begyrofieach financial year. IAD adopts a risk-based approach,
driven by a systematic and comprehensive risk assessment matehnaging the internal audit activities. The fundamental
framework for the internal audit function is based on the CommittéeSponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSQ”) framework, a well-recognised risk and controméeork for the evaluation of the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control. The use®fQ®SO framework is integrated into the internal audivigies.

The scope of the internal audit covers all business units aadchtipns of the Bank. The priority of internal audit activities a
identified through risk assessment and in accordanitetiv annual audit plan approved by the AC.

During the financial year 2015, IAD has conducted audits toréra and assess the adequacy, effectiveness and efficiency of
risk management functions and internal control system as welb asview the compliance with the established policies,
procedures, guidelines and regulatory requirements. The audittsgp/hich provide the results of audits/reviews conducted
including the remedial actions for rectifying audit issues, artenstted to the AC for review. There are also follow-up and
escalation procedures in place for the tracking of alitanding audit issues to full resolution.

Board Risk Management Committee

The Board has entrusted BRMC with the responsibilities to peowdersight and governance of risks for the Bank. The
Committee oversees the risk framework, reviews the risk manageautvities and policies formulated by the Management
for recommendation to the Board for approval.

The Committee comprises of two Independent Non-ExecutivecRire and one Non-Independent Non-Executive Director.
The BRMC met five times during financial year 2015. The compasiof the BRMC and the attendance of the members at
meetings held in 2015 are as follows:

Members of BRMC Independent/Non-Independent Attendance at meetings
Ong Ah Tin @ Ong Chee Kwee Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director 5/5 (100%)
Dato’ Leong Khee Seong Independent Non-Executive Director 5/5 (100%)
Hong Guilu Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 5/5 (100%)

The salient terms of reference of the Committee are asvll
= toreview and recommend risk management strategidsigzohnd risk tolerance for Board’s approval;
= to review and assess the adequacy of risk management poligieBaamework in identifying, measuring, monitoring

and controlling risk and the extent to which these are operaffiegterely; and obtaining assurances that they are being
adhered to on timely basis;

= to ensure infrastructure, resources and systems are in place for nglgeraent that is, ensuring staff responsible for
implementing risk management systems perform their glitependently of the Bank’s risk taking activities;

= to review Management’s periodic reports on risk exposisie portfolio composition and risk management actgiti
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)

Board Committees(continued)

Board Risk Management Committeg(continued)

= to evaluate and provide input on such strategies and/or pslitd suit local conditions and make appropriate
recommendations thereof to the Board where risk stratagegolicies are driven by the parent bank;

= to provide oversight for establishing AML/CFT policies and mmnom standards, overall AML/CFT risk profiles and
measures undertaken by the Bank;

= to review and ensure a forward looking and dynamic capital manegeprocess that incorporates changes in the
Bank’s strategic business direction, risk profiles, operatingrenment and other factors that could materially affect the
Bank’s capital adequacy;

= to review and approve the Bank’s overall stress testing methggolehich should be forward looking with defined
scenario(s) that cover various material risks and business arbasresult of the stress tests should facilitate the
development of risk mitigation or contingency planstfa stressed scenario(s); and

= toreview and recommend new products and services that requirevappyathe Board per BNM's guidelines based on
the recommendation from the New Product Approval Coresitt

The details pertaining to the Bank’s financial risk managememhéraork are set out on pages 53 to 64 of these financial
statement:

Nominating Committee

The NC comprises of four Non-Executive Directors and one ExeeRivector. The NC met three times during financial year
2015. The composition of the NC and the attendahtdgeamembers at meetings held in 2015 are as follows:

Members of NC Independent/Non-Independent Attendance at meetings
Dato’ Leong Khee Seong Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director 3/3 (100%)
Ong Ah Tin @ Ong Chee Kwee Independent Non-Executive Director 3/3 (100%)
Yuan Bin Non-Independent Executive Director 3/3 (100%)
Lan Li Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 3/3 (100%)
Hong Guilu Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 3/3 (100%)

The salient terms of reference of the NC are set out below

= to establish minimum requirements for the Board members with tipgined mix of skills, experience, qualification and
other core competencies required of a director. The Committeelsis r@esponsible for establishing minimum
requirements for the CEO. The requirements and criterilgste approved by the Board;

= to recommend and assess the nominees for directorship, Boarditteenmembers as well as nominees for the CEO.
This includes assessing directors/CEO for re-appointment upoexpiry of their respective terms of appointment as
approved by BNM. The final decision as to who shalhbminated should be the responsibility of the Board,;

= to oversee the overall composition of the Board, in terms of tipragpiate size and skills, and the balance between
executive directors, non-executive directors and inddg@rdirectors through annual review;

= torecommend to the Board the removal of a director or CEO or oteeioE Management members from the Board or
management if he/she is ineffective, errant and nedligatischarging his/her responsibilities;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)
Board Committees(continued)
Nominating Committee (continued)

= to establish a mechanism for the formal assessment on the effeetis of the Board as a whole and the contribution of
each director to the effectiveness of the Board, the contributidhe Board’s various committees and the performance
of the CEO and other Senior Management members or any officeraphymesponsible for the respective areas of
expertise undertaken by the Senior Management members, ivéne fuch position is left vacant. Annual assessment
should be conducted based on objective performance criterida [@erdormance criteria should be approved by the
Board;

= to ensure all Directors receive appropriate continuous trainingranome(s) in order to keep abreast with the latest
developments in the industry;

= to oversee the appointment of Senior Management members, gdiangaat succession planning and performance
evaluation of Senior Management members;

= to assess on annual basis and ensure that the directors and Blem@agement members are not disqualified under
Section 59 of the Financial Services Act 2013; and

= to assess the fitness and propriety of key responsénmps as defined in the Bank’s Fit and Proper Policy.

Remuneration Committee

The RC comprises of four Non-Executive Directors of whom two areefeshdent Non-Executive Directors. The RC met
twice during financial year 2015. The composition of the RC #raattendance of the members at meetings held in 2015 are
as follows:

Members of RC Independent/Non-Independent Attendance at meetings
Ong Ah Tin @ Ong Chee Kwee Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director 2/2 (100%)
Dato’ Leong Khee Seong Independent Non-Executive Director 2/2 (100%)
Lan Li Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 2/2 (100%)
Hong Guilu Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 2/2 (100%)

The salient terms of reference of the RC are set out below

= torecommend a framework of remuneration for directors, CEO and otr@oiSManagement members for the Board’s
approval. The remuneration framework should support the Bank'sireuliobjectives and strategy to reflect the
responsibility and commitment of the Board members, CEO aner @nior Management members. There should be a
balance in determining the remuneration package, either tadesvaetain members of the Board or staff of caliber and
at the same time without compromising the short term and long iteenest of the Bank. The framework should cover
all aspects of remuneration including director’s fees, salari@syances, bonuses, share options and benefits-in-kind;
and

» to recommend specific remuneration packages for executive diseahd the CEO. The remuneration package should
be structured such that it is competitive and consistent viéghBank's culture, objectives and strategy. Salary scales
drawn up should be within the scope of the general businessypatid not be dependent on short-term performance to
avoid incentives for excessive risk-taking. As for non-exeautilirectors and independent directors, the level of
remuneration should be linked to their level of responsibkiituindertaken and contribution to the effective functioning
of the Board In addition the remuneratio of eact Boarc membe may differ baser on their level of expertise
knowledge and experience.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)

Board Committees(continued)

Remuneration Committee(continued)

The Bank’s Independent Non-Executive Directors receive Direécfees and meeting attendance allowances. The annual
Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at the AmfBeakral Meeting (“AGM”) of the Bank. The nature and

amount of each major element of the remuneration of the CEO/KiDIadependent Non-Executive Directors for financial
year 31 December 2015 are disclosed in Note 26 (cetérthncial statements.

Accountability and audit

Financial reporting

It is the Board’'s commitment to present a balanced and meaniagiéssment of the Bank’s financial performance and
prospects at the end of the financial year, primarily through tmeianfinancial statements to BNM. The Board is assisted by
the AC to oversee the Bank’s financial reporting proeeskthe quality of its financial reporting.

Directors’ responsibility statement in respect of the prepeation of the audited financial statements

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the financial statesygve a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Bank
as at the end of the accounting period and of its financial perfoceand cash flows for the year then ended. In preparing the
financial statements, the Directors have ensured that the ptigpaaad fair presentation of these financial statements are in
accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standardsyrational Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements
of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia in all matlegspects and other legal requirements.

Relationship with the Auditors

Key features underlying the relationship of the AC wiith external auditors are included in the AC’s termsfefeace.



Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Malaysia) Berhad 14
(Company No. 839839 M)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2015

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report dredaudited financial statements of the Bank for
the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Bank is principally engaged in the provisiorbahking and other related financial services.

RESULTS

RM’000
Profit before taxation 40,197
Tax expense (11,867)
Profit for the year 28,330

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves andgome during the financial year under review
except as disclosed in the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid during the financial year and the Doegido not recommend any dividend to be
paid for the financial year.

DIRECTORS OF THE BANK
Directors who held office during the year since dia¢e of the last report are:

Mr Mo Fumin

Mr Yuan Bin

YBhg Dato’ Leong Khee Seong

Mr Ong Ah Tin @ Ong Chee Kwee
Ms Lan Li

Mr Hong Guilu

Pursuant to Section 129 of the Companies Act 1965, YBhg Dh&wng Khee Seong retires at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Bank &eihg eligible, offers himself for re-election.

In accordance with Article 73 of the Bank’s Articles of Asst@n, Mr Ong Ah Tin @ Ong Chee Kwee
retires at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting,ebeing eligible, offers himself for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST

None of the Directors holding office as at 31 December 201 dray interest in the ordinary shares and
options over shares of the Bank and of its relategorations during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Directorhef Bank has received nor become entitled to
receive any benefit (other than a benefit included in theeggie amount of emoluments received or due
and receivable by Directors as shown in the financial statgmor the fixed salary of a full time employee
of the Bank or of related corporations as shown in Note 26ddhé financial statements) by reason of a
contract made by the Bank with the Director or with a firm ofigéhthe Director is a member, or with a
company in which the Director has a substantiarfiial interest.

There were no arrangements during and at the end of the fadarear which had the object of enabling

Directors of the Bank to acquire benefits by means of the ia@tpn of shares in or debentures of the Bank
or any other body corporate.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

There were no changes in the authorised, issued and paidpialcof the Bank during the financial year.
There were no debentures issued during the finbyesa.

OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES

No options were granted to any person to take ugsuad shares of the Bank during the financial.year

BANK RATINGS

The Bank has not been rated by any external agencie

HOLDING COMPANY

The Directors regard Industrial and Commercial Bank of @Himmited, a company incorporated in China,
as the holding company of the Bank.
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OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

Before the financial statements of the Bank were made oetDilectors took reasonable steps to ascertain
that:

i) adequate provision has been made for doubtful dabts

ii) any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in ttinary course of business have been
written down to an amount which they might be expéo to realise.

At the date of this report, the Directors are neage of any circumstances:

i) that would render the amount of the provision for doubtfubtdein the Bank inadequate to any
substantial extent; or

ii) that would render the value attributed to the current assetbe financial statements of the Bank
misleading; or

iif) which has arisen which render adherence to the existingadedhvaluation of assets and liabilities of
the Bank misleading or inappropriate; or

iv) not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial staents, that would render any amount stated in
the financial statements of the Bank misleading.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:

i) any charge on the assets of the Bank that has arisen sincedtwd the financial year and which secures
the liabilities of any other person; or

ii) any contingent liability in respect of the Banktthas arisen since the end of the financial y

No contingent liability or other liability of the Bank has ¢sme enforceable, or is likely to become
enforceable within the period of twelve months after the efhthe financial year which, in the opinion of
the Directors, will or may substantially affect the abiliy the Bank to meet its obligations as and when
they fall due.

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial performandettee Bank for the financial year ended 31
December 2015 have not been substantially affected by any, itransaction or event of a material and
unusual nature nor has any such item, transaction or eventred in the interval between the end of that
financial year and the date of this report.
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AUDITORS
The auditors, Messrs KPMG, have indicated theilinghess to accept re-appointment.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in ademce with a resolution of the Directors.

Yuan Bin

Dato’ Leong Khee Seon

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Date: 29 March 2016

17



Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Malaysia) Berhad 18
(Company No. 839839 M)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 169 (15) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965

We, Yuan Bin and Dato’ Leong Khee Seong being two of the damscof Industrial and Commercial Bank
of China (Malaysia) Berhad, do hereby state on behalf of thectbrs that, in our opinion, the financial
statements set out on pages 22 to 65 are drawn up in accordaticélalaysian Financial Reporting
Standards, International Financial Reporting Standandstlae requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in
Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financialif@s of the Bank as of 31 December 2015 and
of its financial performance and cash flows for ylear then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in ademice with a resolution of the Directors:

Yuan Bin

Dato’ Leong Khee Seong

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Date: 29 March 2016



Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Malaysia) Berhad 19
(Company No. 839839 M)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATUTORY DECLARATION PURSUANT TO

SECTION 169 (16) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965

I, Yuan Bin, being the Director primarily responsible forettiinancial management of Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China (Malaysia) Berhad, do solemnly aintterely declare that the financial
statements set out on pages 22 to 65 are, to the best of my é&dgeviand belief, correct and | make this

solemn declaration conscientiously believing the sameetdrbe, and by virtue of the provisions of the
Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the above namtedala Lumpur, Malaysia on 29 March 2016.

Yuan Bin

BEFORE ME:
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members Of
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Malaysia)Berhad

(Company No. 839839 M)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Industrial anchi@ercial Bank of China (Malaysia) Berhad,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 8tdnber 2015 of the Bank, and the statements of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changesuityegnd cash flows of the Bank for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policiesahdr explanatory notes, as set out on pages 22 to
65.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statemte

The Directors of the Bank are responsible for the preparaifdinancial statements so as to give a true and fair
view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting 8tads, International Financial Reporting Standards
and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaydi@. Directors are also responsible for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessaenble the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due todrar error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these firg@ratatements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with approved standards on auditingatajia. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audithtaio reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misshent.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain auditdevice about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend rjuadgement, including the assessment of risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whethe to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, we consider internal control relevant torttity’s preparation of financial statements that give a
true and fair view, in order to design audit procedures thatappropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness oétiigy’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policied agd the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the Directors, as well as evaluating the ovgmakentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is #iftiand appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true andvaw of the financial position of the Bank as of 31
December 2015 and of its financial performance and cashsflfow the year then ended in accordance with
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, Internation@dcial Reporting Standards and the requirements of
the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Ad&518 Malaysia, we also report that in our

opinion, the accounting and other records and the registepgired by the Act to be kept by the Bank have
been properly kept in accordance with the provisiofithe Act.

Other Matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Bank, as a,hadsgccordance with Section 174 of the
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. Weat assume responsibility to any other
person for the content of this report.

KPMG Chin Shoon Chong
Firm Number: AF 0758 Chartered Accountant
Chartered Accountants Approval Number:; 2823/04/17(J)

Petaling Jaya, Malaysia

Date: 29 March 2016



Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Malaysia) Berhad

(Company No. 839839 M)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2 015

ASSETS

Cash and short-term funds

Deposits and placements with banks and other

financial institutions
Financial investments available-for-sale
Loans, advances and financing
Derivative financial assets
Other assets
Statutory deposits with Bank Negara Malaysia
Plant and equipment
Intangible asset
Deferred tax assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Deposits from customers

Deposits and placements of banks and other
financial institutions

Derivative financial liabilities

Other liabilities

Provision for taxation

TOTAL LIABILITIES

EQUITY

Share capital
Reserves

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNER
OF THE BANK

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Note

11
12
13

14

15

16

17
18

28

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000

1,297,823 1,639,495

2,314 107,600

6 202,568 55,156

7 2,528,388 2,210,784

7,555 592

4,684 7,164

10 22,46 10,340

3,875 4,303

824 1,344

4,058 3,102

4,074,549 4,039,880

3,310,848 1,949,828

298,755 1,650,218

6,965 542

41,616 51,986

2,824 960

3,661,008 3,653,534

331,000 331,000

82,541 55,346

413,541 386,346

4,074,549 4,039,880

3,027,115 2,498,328

The notes set out on pages 26 to 65 form an integral part of these financialestéggem
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Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Malaysia) Berhad

(Company No. 839839 M)
(Incorporated in Malaysic

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

Net fee incom
Net trading income
Other operating income

Net operating income
Other operating expenses

Operating profit
Allowance for impairment on loans, advances and

financing

Profit before taxation
Tax expense

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income, net ol
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequ
to profit or loss
Fair value reserve
- Changes in fair value
- Amount transferred to profit or loss
- Deferred tax adjustment

Total other comprehensive expense for the

Total comprehensive income for the year

Basic earnings per ordinary share (s

Note

19
19
19

2C
21

22

23

24

13

25

23

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
122,707 132,924
(52,568) (74,021)
70,139 58,903
13,61 11,09(
22,900 15,538
3 -
106,655 85,531
(60,260)  (54,032)
46,395 31,499
(6,198) (4,803)
40,197 26,696
(11,867) (7,456)
28,330 19,240
(1,489) 121]
- (324)
354 172
(1,135 (27)
27,195 19,213
8.56 5.81

The notes set out on pages 26 to 65 form an integral part of these financial statement
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Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Malaysia) Berhad

(Company No. 839839 M)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

Cash flows generated from operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible asset
Allowance for impairment on loans, advances andrfaing
Net unrealised gains arising from derivative trgdin
Accretion of discounts net of amortisation of prems
on financial investments available-for-sale

Operating profit before working capital changes

Decrease/(Increase) in operating assets
Deposits and placements with banks and
financial institutions
Loans, advances and financing
Other assets
Statutory deposits with Bank Negara Malaysia

Increase/(Decrease) in operating liabilities
Deposits from customers
Deposits and placements of banks and other
financial institutions
Other liabilities

Cash used in operations
Income taxes paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows (used in)/generated from investing aciities
Purchase of plant and equipment
Net (purchase)/proceeds of financial investmawmégslable-for-sale

Net cash (used in)/from investing activitie
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the finaial year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financiaegr

Cash and cash equivalents compris

Cash and short-term funds

Note

4

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
40,197 26,696
2,114 2,244
520 520
6,198 4,803
(540) (4,487)
(3,842) 243
42,6 30,019
105,286 448,755
(323,802)  (393,974)
2,480 12,178
(12120  (6,739)
1,361,020 624,633
(1,351,463) (1,618,877)
(10,370) 26,689
(184,322)  (877,316)
(10,605) (5,132)
(194,927)  (882,448)
(1,686) (359)
(145,059) 43,442
(146,745 43,08
(341,672)  (839,365)
1,639,495 2,478,860
1,297,823 1,639,495
1,297,823 1,639,495

The notes set out on pages 26 to 65 form an integral part of these financial statement



Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Malaysia) Bethad
(Company No. 839839 M)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDE D
31 DECEMBER 2015

1.

General information

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Malaysia) Berhad is lalipdimited liability company incorporated
and domiciled in Malaysia. The Bank is principally engagedthie provision of banking and other related
financial services. The address of its registered officepgimcipal place of business is as follows:

Level 35, Menara Maxis
Kuala Lumpur City Centre
50088 Kuala Lumpur.

The financial statements were authorised for issueédBtard of Directors on 29 March 2016.

Basis of preparation

@)

Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in acwmdwith Malaysian Financial
Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Repgrtandards and the requirements of the
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

The following are accountin: standard: amendmen anc interpretation of the MFRSs that have beer
issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards BoardA\SBI") but have not been adopted by the Bank:

MFRSs, Interpretations and amendments effective for annuariogls beginning on or after 1 January
2016

MFRS 14,Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Amendments to MFRS Bon-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinuedr@jons (Annual
Improvements 2012 - 2014 Cycle)

Amendments to MFRS Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Annual Improvem@@s2 - 2014 Cycle)

Amendments to MFRS 1@onsolidated Financial Statement®lFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities andMFRS 128,Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - ImeggtEntities:
Applying the Consolidation Exception

Amendments to MFRS 11pint Arrangements - Accounting for Acquisitionsrérests in Joint
Operations

Amendments to MFRS 10Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosuré&dtive

Amendments to MFRS 11€roperty, Plant and Equipment addFRS 138 Intangible Assets
- Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciatiand Amortisation

Amendments to MFRS 118roperty, Plant and Equipment andFRS 141 Agriculture - Agriculture:
Bearer Plants

Amendments to MFRS 118&mployee Benefits (Annual Improvements 2012 - 201k Cyc

Amendments to MFRS 12%eparate Financial Statements - Equity Method ira&gp Financial
Statements

Amendments to MFRS 13#terim Financial Reporting (Annual Improvements 202914 Cycle)

MFRSs, Interpretations and amendments effective for annualioels beginning on or after 1 January
2018

MFRS 9,Financial Instruments (2014)
MFRS 15,Revenue from Contracts with Customers
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2.

Basis of preparation(continued)

(@)

(b)

(©

Statement of compliancgcontinued)
MFRSs, Interpretations and amendments effective frondate yet to be confirmed

Amendments to MFRS 1@onsolidated Financial Statemenasd MFRS 128nvestments in
Associates and Joint Ventures - Sale or Contritoutif Assets between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture

The Bank plans to apply the abovementioned standangsndments and interpretations:

- from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2016 for those s@sidamendments or
interpretations that are effective for annual periods beginningraafter 1 January 2016, except for
MFRS 14, Amendments to MFRS 5, Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS ri® MFRS 128,
Amendments to MFRS 11, Amendment to MFRS 116 and MFRS 141 Aamehdments to MFRS
127, as they are not applicable to the Bank.

- from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2018 for those s@sdamendments or
interpretations that are effective for annual periods Iméggnon or after 1 January 2018.

The initial applications of the accounting standards, amemds and interpretations are not expected to
have any material financial impact to the current period and peoiod financial statements of the Bank,
except as mentioned below:

MFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

MFRS 15 replaces the guidance in MFRS 1R&venueThe Bank is currently assessing the financial
impact of adopting MFRS 15.

MFRS 9, Financial Instruments

MFRS 9 replaces the guidance in MFRS 1B®ancial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
the classification and measurement of financial assetdinancial liabilities, and on hedge accounting.

The Bank is currently assessing the financial impaetiopting MFRS 9.
Basis of measurement
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared ondgteeit@l cost basis, except for financial

investments available-for-sale and derivative financial insémi®m as disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (R¥hich is the Bank’s functional
currency. All financial information is presented in RM and has bemmded to the nearest thousand,
unless otherwise stated.
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2.  Basis of preparation(continued)

(d)

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial information and financial statermeéntconformity with MFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumgptainaffiect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilitiegnrec and expenses. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

Estimate and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an onbasig. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimateseaised and in any future periods affected.

There are no significant areas of estimation uncertainty anda&rifidgements in applying accounting
policies that have significant effect on the amounts recogniséite financial statements other than those
disclosed in Note 32 - Fair values of financial asaetsfinancial liabilities.

3.  Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been appliedistensgly to the periods presented in these financial
statements, unless otherwise stated.

@)

(b)

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functmmedncy of the Bank at exchange rates
at the dates of the transactio

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign curesnat the end of the reporting period are
retranslated to the functional currency at the excheaigeat that date.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign coiee are not retranslated at the end of
reporting period except for those that are measured at fair valuehvelte retranslated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the date that thealaie was determined.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recogmigawfit or loss, except for differences
arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity instmmnevhich are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Interest recognition

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss tsingffective interest method. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts thenatgd future cash payments and receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset or liability (@here appropriate, a shorter period) to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. Whetcgkating the effective interest rate, the
Bank estimates future cash flows considering all contractualgerfrthe financial instrument, but not
future credit losses.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all amt®paid or received by the Bank that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costiidiecincremental costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of a finanagdet or liability.

Interest expense on deposits and borrowings of the Banfecognised on an accrual basis.
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Significant accounting policieqcontinued)

(©

(d)

(e)

Fees recognition

Loan arrangement fees which are material are recognised as incoerealllconditions precedent are
fulfilled. Guarantee fees and commitment fees which are materiakatgnised as income based on time
apportionment.

Other fee income on services and facilities extended to custoare recognised as the related services
are performed.

Other fee expenses relating mainly to transaction and servise éee expensed off as the services are
received.

Operating lease payments

Leases, where the Bank does not assume substantially alkkseamd rewards of ownership are classified
as operating leases and the leased assets are rgtisecoin the statement of financial position.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in prafgsooh a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognisedfingurtoss as an integral part of the total
lease expense, over the term of the lease. Contingent ren¢atharged to profit or loss in the reporting
period in which they are incurred.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Currentdadederred tax are recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items reisegh directly in equity or other
comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on thél@kscome or loss for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the mgpguériod, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous financial years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providiogtemporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the statemenfinaincial position and their tax bases.
Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differenttesinitial recognition of assets or

liabilities in a transaction that affects neither accountimy taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is

measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied tortperty differences when they reverse,
based on the laws that have been enacted or subsbaenacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legalfgreeable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxesddwethe same tax authority on the same taxable
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settlerent tax liabilities and assets on a net basis
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realisadudtaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is prolthblefuture taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary difference can be utiliBederred tax assets are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and are reduced to the extent thatdtlenger probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised.
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3.  Significant accounting policiegcontinued)

(f)

()

(h)

Financial instruments

i)

Initial recognition and measurement

The Bank initially recognises loans and advances, depasitslabt securities issued on the date they
are originated. Regular way purchases and sales of financitsam® recognised on the trade date at
which the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset. All firdrassets and liabilities (including
assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profibss) are initially recognised in the
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Bhakomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initiallgt its fair value plus, for a financial
instrument not at fair value through profit or loss, transactiostcthat are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rigitetve cash flows from the assets has
expired; or when the Bank has transferred its contractual right teiveche cash flows of the
financial assets, and either:

- substantially all the risks and rewards of ownershigmeen transferred; or
- the Bank has neither retained nor transferred substantialthaltisks and rewards of ownership,
but has not retained control of the assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference betweercdhging amount and the sum of
consideration received (including any new asset obtaineddegsew liability assumed) and any
cumulative gain or loss that had been recogniseduityeis recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the Bank's cotiedcobligations are discharged,
cancelled, or expire.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference betweke carrying amount of the financial
liability extinguished or transferred to another party and thes@teration paid, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is riseobim profit or loss.

iii) Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and theangount reported in the statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right toatffee recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realisedisset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basist@nypermitted under the MFRSs.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of notes and coins on harestricted balances held with BNM and
highly liquid financial assets maturing within onemtlg which are subject to insignificant risk of char
in their fair value, and are used by the Bank in theagament of its short-term commitments.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are recognised at fair value in the statement of ¢iahposition. Gains and losses (realised

and unrealised) arising from changes in the fair valueesegnised in profit or loss.

(i) Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts

Forward contracts are valued at the prevailing forward rates of egehanthe reporting date. The
resultant unrealised gains and losses are recognigedfinor loss.
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3.  Significant accounting policiegcontinued)

(h)

@

0

Derivative financial instruments (continued)

(i) Currency Swaps
The Bank acts as an intermediary for counterparties who wish tg fWwair foreign currency
obligations. The resultant realised and unrealiseasgaid losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial investments

Available-for-sale

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial tastieat are not classified as held-for-
trading or held-to-maturity investments; and are initially mead at fair value plus direct and

incremental transaction costs. They are subsequently remdaaufair value, and changes therein are
recognised in other comprehensive income as ‘Fair value resemithe financial assets are either sold
or become impaired. When available-for-sale financial assets @t sumulative gains or losses

previously recognised in other comprehensive income are resedjini the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as ‘Net gains/losses arising fromatlkeof financial investments available-
for-sale’.

Investment in equity instruments that do not have a quoted ehgukce in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured are stated &t cos

Interest income earned is recognised on available-for-sale delities using the effective interest rate
method calculater ovel the asset’ expecte life. Premium and/o discount arisin¢ on the purchas of
dated investment securities are included in the tioun of their effective interest rates.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whetherglneabjective evidence of impairment
in the value of a financial asset. Impairment losses are recagrifs and only if, there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events thatmectafter the initial recognition of the
financial asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or ‘events)amaimpact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estad.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss and is measuseithiea difference between the asset’s
acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortist@nd the asset’s current fair value, less
any impairment loss previously recognised. Where a decline invaliue of an available-for-sale
securities has been recognised in other comprehensive inctimee,cumulative loss in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity andgrésed to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrumemeasges and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was resedrin profit or loss, the impairment
loss is reversed, to the extend that the asset’s carrying amoastrd exceed what the carrying amount
would have been had the impairment not been recognised at thettdaimpairment is reversed. The
amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

Loans, advances and financing

Loans, advances and financing are non-derivative financiatsasgth fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market and the Bank does netdintesell immediately or in the near
term.

The loans, advances and financing are carried at their outatandpaid principal and interest balances,
net of individual and collective assessment impairmentwalces. The carrying amounts of the Bank’s
loans, advances and financing are reviewed at each reportingtaatetermine whether there is any
objective evidence of impairment. If such evidence exists,recoverable amount of the loans, advances
and financing is estimate
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Significant accounting policiegcontinued)

(k)

o

Impairment of loans, advances and financing

A collective impairment assessment is performed on “colledta®is” on the Bank’s loan portfolio using
statistical techniques with the necessary model risk adprstsnto the credit grades and probability of
defaults of the respective credit grade bands of the loans in todgward against the risk of judgement
error in the credit grading process. Although the credit grading gg®owvould involve qualitative
assessment which is subject to judgement error, the loansnwitiei same credit grade band generally
share the similar credit risk characteristics for collective sssent. Given the lack of historical loss
experience, the relevant market data will be takendosideration to derive the model risk adjustment.

In the case of individual assessment, a loan is deemed adrédpé there is objective evidence of
impairment which is triggered by certain events. In general,ddhat are not repaid on time as they come
due, be it the principal or interest, will be monitored closedytlae likelihood of impairment from these
past due loans is expected to be higher. Individual impairratotvances are made for loans, advances
and financing which have been individually reviewed and dfediy identified as impaired. Individual
impairment allowances are provided if the recoverable amountdpraslue of estimated future cash
flows discounted at original effective interest rate) is lowemntttze carrying value of the loans, advances
and financing (outstanding amount of loans, advances anddimgnnet of individual impairment
allowance). The expected cash flows are based on projectioigaldtion proceeds, realisation of assets
or estimates of future operating cash flows.

Impaired loans, advances and financing are measured at thieiatsd recoverable amount based on the
discounted cash flow methodology. Loans, advances and fimgqutand related allowances) are normally
written off, eithel partially or in full, wher there is nc realistic prospec of recover of thest amount and

for collateralised loans, advances and financing, when theepdsfrom the realisation of security have
been received.

Plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement
All purchases above RM1,000 are capitalised. Items of pladtequipment are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairmsaés.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable écattquisition of the asset and any other costs
directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working caadifor their intended use, and the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site orctwliiey are located, and capitalised
borrowing costs. Purchased software that is integral to the furadity of the related equipment is
capitalised as part of that equipment.

When significant parts of an item of plant or equipment have diffeuseful lives, they are accounted for
as separate items (major components) of plant and egqotpm

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of plant and equipmedetermined by comparing the proceeds
from disposal with the carrying amount of the item of plant andigment, and is recognised net within
“other operating income” or “other operating expensespeetively in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of plant or equipirizerecognised in the carrying amount
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits editd within the part will flow to the
Bank and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amoutheakeplaced part is derecognised to
profit or loss. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of plant andpment are recognised in profit or loss
as incurrec
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o

(m)

(n)

Plant and equipment(continued)

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residlued. \Significant components of individual
assets are assessed, and if a component has a useful life tiférisnd from the remainder of that asset,
then that component is depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-linesbager the estimated useful lives of each
part of an item of plant and equipment since this most closdlgats the expected pattern of consumption
of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. The @adt equipment are depreciated
commencing from the month subsequent to the month of addaiwh depreciation is accounted for up to
the month of disposal.

Depreciation rate per annum (%)

Electronic equipment 33.33

Office equipment, fixtures and fittings 20

Computer software 10

Improvement on leased assets Over the leasehold period

Plant and equipment under construction are not depeelaigntil the assets are ready for their intended

Depreciation methods, rates, useful lives and residual valteseaiewed at the end of the reporting
period and adjusted as appropriate.

Intangible asset

Intangible asset represents admission fee and is measured &ssbaccumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of intangilsketis calculated to write-off the cost of the
intangible asset on a straight line basis over the estimatefiillife of 5 years. Intangible asset is subject
to impairment review if there are events or changes in circumstandich indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable.

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-financial assets (excepteffarred tax assets) are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to determine whether there ismaligation of impairment. If any such
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable aniswggtimated.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped &vgatb the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely imdkgre of the cash inflows of other assets
(known as cash-generating unit).

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit grelger of its value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal. In assessing value in usesthmeaged future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflectsntunarket assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset or casérgtng unit.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of antamsés related cash-generating unit
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairmergebgecognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amdussyogoodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and therdtweethe carrying amounts of the other
assets in the cash-generating unit (or a group of casrajamg units) on @ro rata basis.
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(n)

(0)

(P)

(@

(1

Impairment (continued)

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed ahdhef each reporting period for any
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer existsnpairment loss is reversed if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverablenagioce the last impairment loss was
recognised. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extenttfeaasset's carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determinedf weipreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised. Reversals of impairmesgdare credited to profit or loss in the
financial year in which the reversals are recognised.

Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Baskehpresent legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probabé &n outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected futute ftass at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and thepeskKic to the liability. The unwinding
of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

Employee benefits
(i) Short-term employee bene

Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of salariegja bonuses, paid annual leave and
sick leave are measured on an undiscounted basexapedsed as the related service is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paidaurshort-term cash bonus if the Bank
has a present legal or constructive obligation totpsyamount as a result of past service provide
the employee and the obligation can be estimatézbigl

(i) Defined contribution plan
The Bank’s contributions to statutory pension funds are chargedofi or loss in the financial year
to which they relate. Once the contributions have been pai,BAnk has no further payment

Other receivables

Other receivables are initially recognised at their costs winencontractual right to receive cash or
another financial asset from another entity is estadish

Subsequent to initial recognition, other receivables are oredsat amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Liabilities

Deposits from customers, deposits and placements of bankstbedfimancial institutions are stated at
placement values.

Other liabilities are measured initially and subsequentlgagt. Other liabilities are recognised when
there is a contractual obligation to deliver cash otz financial asset to another entity.
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(s) Fair value measurement

MFRS 13 prescribed that fair value of an asset or a liability,epxdor share-based payment and lease
transactions, is determined as the price that would be receivgelltan asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at theume@agnt date. The measurement assumes
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the lialidkgs place either in the principal market or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most adgaotes market.

For non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes auouat a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highddtest use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highestbest use.

4, Cash and short-term funds

2015 2014

RM’000 RM’000
Cash and balances with banks and other financiaiutishs 326,271 67,619
Money at call and deposit placements maturing witime month 971,552 1,571,876

1,297,823 1,639,495

5. Deposits and placements with banks and other financiahstitutions

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
Foreign banks 2,314 107,600
6. Financial investments available-for-sale
2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
At fair value
Malaysian Government Securities 70,553 50,185
Financial Institutions Securities 127,042 -
Private Debt Securities 4,973 4,971
202,568 55,156
The maturity structure of financial investments avaéddbr-sale are as follows:
Within one year 127,042 -
More than one year to three years 55,668 55,156
More than three years to five years 19,858 -

202,568 55,156
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7. Loans, advances and financing

At amortised cost

(0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

By type

Overdrafts

Term loans

- Housing loans

- Syndicated term loans
- Other term loans
Bills receivable

Trust receipt
Revolving credit
Bankers’ acceptances
Staff loans

Credit card loans

Gross loans, advances and financing
Less: Allowance for impairment

- Collective allowance for impairment
- Individual allowance for impairment

Net loans, advances and financing

By type of customer

Domestic non-bank financial institutions
- Others

Domestic business enterprises

- Small medium enterprises

- Others

Individuals

Foreign entities

By interest rate sensitivity

Fixed rate loans

Variable rate

- Base rate/base lending rate plus
- Cost plus

- Other variable rates

By sector

Primary agriculture

Manufacturing

Construction

Real estate

Wholesale & retail trade and restaurants & hotels
Transport, storage and communication

Finance, insurance and business ser

Education, health and others

Household

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’'000
165,405 118,152

47,605 34,895
178,456 145,186
567,547 623,518

33,810 2,156

- 320

1,459,748 1,223,503

91,605 73,221

2,118 1,867
1,561 1,235

2,547,855 2,224,053

(17,387) (11,189)

(2,080) (2,080)

2,528,388 2,210,784

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000

20,042 12,038

70,827 61,154

1,468,940 1,067,624

43,628 31,575
944,418 1,051,662

2,547,855 2,224,053

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000

18,944 3,103
116,754 44,226

1,070,516 800,013

1,341,641 1,376,711

2,547,855 2,224,053

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000

49,297 23,481
136,688 41,460
122,614 41,337
363,146 221,591

760,49 972,074
533,691 416,813
397,73 396,74
114,728 62,831

69,458 47,717

2,547,855 2,224,053
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Loans, advances and financin¢continued)

v)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

By purpose

Purchase of landed properties
- Non residential

- Residential

Purchase of transport vehicles
Construction

Credit card

Personal use

Mergers and acquisitions
Working capital

Other purpose

By geographical distribution

Within Malaysia
Outside Malaysia
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2015 2014
RM'000 RM'000
125,610 99,998

49,107 36,074
113 166
9,099 9,034
1,561 1,235
863 778
2,147 3,496
2,335,802 2,047,214
23,463 26,058
2,547,855 2,224,053
2015 2014
RM'000 RM'000

1,634,748 1,099,833
913,107 1,124,220

2,547,855 2,224,053

Concentration by location for loans, advances and dimgris based on the geographical location wi

the credit risk resides.

By residual contractual maturity

Maturity within one year

More than one year to three years
More than three years to five years
More than five years

Impaired loans, advances and financing
(@) Movement in impaired loans, advances and finanag

At 1 January
Impaired during the financial year

At 31 December
Less: Individual allowance for impairment

Net impaired loans, advances and financing

As % of gross loans, advances and financing
(net of individual allowance for impairment)

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
1,770,401 1,887,523
452,935 105,753
211,844 133,248
112,675 97,529
2,547,855 2,224,053

2015 2014
RM’'000 RM’'000
2,080 -
- 2,080
2,080 2,080
(2,080)  (2,080)
0% 0%




(Company No. 839839 M)

7.

8.

Loans, advances and financin¢continued)

(b) By sector 2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
Wholesale & retail trade and restaurants & hotels 2,029 2,029
Household 51 51
2,080 2,080
(c) By purpose 2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
Working capital 2,029 2,029
Credit card 51 51
2,080 2,080
(d) By geographical distribution 2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
Within Malaysia 2,080 2,080
(ix)  Movements in allowance for impairment on loans, adances and financing
2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
Collective allowance for impairment
At 1 January 11,189 8,466
Allowance made during the financial year 9,199 6,082
Allowance written back (3,001) (3,359)
At 31 December 17,387 11,189
As % of gross loans, advances and financing
(net of individual allowance for impairment) 0.7% 0.5%
Individual allowance for impairment
At 1 January 2,080 -
Allowance made during the financial year - 2,080
At 31 December 2,080 2,080
Derivative financial assets/liabilities
2015
Contract/
Nominal value Assets Liabilities
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Foreign exchange contracts
- Currency forwards and spots 580,512 7,166 6,961
- Currency swaps 173,550 389 4
Total recognised derivative assets/liabilities (N&8ps 754,062 7,555 6,965
2014
Contract/
Nominal value Assets Liabilities
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Foreign exchange contra
- Currency forwards and spots 800,655 336 541
- Currency swaps 6,145 256 1
Total recognised derivative assets/liabilities (N&8s 806,800 592 542
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9. Other assets

2015 2014

RM’000 RM’000
Interest receivable 1,536 4,664
Deposits 1,924 1,375
Other receivables and prepayments 1,224 1,125
4,684 7,164

10. Statutory deposits with Bank Negara Malaysia
The non-interest bearing statutory deposits are maintained Bathk Negara Malaysia in compliance with

Section 26(2)(c) and Section 26(3) of the Central Bank of Malaysia 2009. The amount of the Statutory
Reserve Requirement is determined based on a set ehpage on total eligible liabilities.

11. Plant and equipment

Office
Equipment, Improvement Fixed assets
Electronic Fixtures  Computer on Leased under
Equipment and fittings Software Assets Construction Total
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Cost
At 1 January 201 2,17¢ 2,14: 414 6,12¢ - 10,86
Additions 497 93 58 - 1,038 1,686
At 31 December 2015 2,676 2,236 472 6,128 1,038 12,550
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2015 1,615 1,073 125 3,748 - 6,561
Charge during the year 420 423 42 1,229 - 2,114
At 31 December 2015 2,035 1,496 167 4,977 - 8,675
Net carrying amount
At 1 January 2015 564 1,070 289 2,380 - 4,303
At 31 December 2015 641 740 305 1,151 1,038 3,875
Office
Equipment, Improvement Fixed assets
Electronic Fixtures  Computer on Leased under
Equipment and fittings Software Assets Construction Total
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cost
At 1 January 2014 1,953 2,015 412 6,125 - 10,505
Additions 226 128 2 3 - 359
At 31 December 2014 2,179 2,143 414 6,128 - 10,864
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2014 1,215 643 84 2,375 - 4,317
Charge during the year 400 430 41 1,373 - 2,244
At 31 December 2014 1,615 1,073 125 3,748 - 6,561
Net carrying amount
At 1 January 2014 738 1,372 328 3,750 - 6,188

At 31 December 2014 564 1,070 289 2,380 - 4,303
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12.

13.

Intangible asset

Cost
At 1 January 2015/31 December 2015

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2015
Charge during the year

At 31 December 2015

Net carrying amount
At 1 January 2015

At 31 December 2015

Cost
At 1 January 2014/31 December 2014

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2014
Charge during the year

At 31 December 2014

Net carrying amount
At 1 January 2014

At 31 December 2014

Deferred tax assets

At 1 January

Recognised in profit or loss (Note 24)
Recognised in equity

At 31 December

Admission
Fee
RM’'000

2,600

1,256
520

1,776

1,344

824

2,600

736
520

1,256

1,864

1,344

2015
RM’000

3,102
602
354

2014
RM’000

863
2,067
172

4,058

3,102

The components and movements of deferred tax asseliskifiles during the financial year are as follows:

Available-
Plant and for-sale
Equipment Reserve Others Total
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
At 1 January 2015 127 (92) (3,137) (3,102)
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 24) (131) - (471) (602)
Recognised in equity - (354) - (354)
At 31 December 2015 (4) (446) (3,608) (4,058)
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13. Deferred tax assetgcontinued)

14.

Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities

At 1 January 2014

Recognised in profit or loss (Note 24)
Recognised in equity

At 31 December 2014

Deposits from customers

@

(ii)

(i)

By type of deposits

Demand deposits
Fixed deposits
Savings deposits
Money market deposits
Short term deposits
Others

By type of customer

Business enterprises
Individuals

Foreign entities
Others

By maturity structure of term deposits

Due within six months
More than six months to one year
More than one year to three years
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15. Deposits and placements of banks and other finantiastitutions

Licensed Malaysian banks
Licensed investment banks
Licensed Islamic banks
Other financial institutions
Foreign banks

Available-
Plant and for-sale
Equipment Reserve Others Total
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
296 80 (1,239) (863)
(169) - (1,898) (2,067)
- (172) - (172)
127 (92) (3,137) (3,102)
2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
1,166,923 321,759
638,283 570,577
101,741 69,198
1,356,784 634,888
19,424 349,650
27,693 3,756
3,310,848 1,949,828
2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
2,203,566 1,292,592
193,067 153,872
913,380 502,383
835 981
3,310,848 1,949,828
2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
2,550,783 1,720,079
757,345 228,292
2,720 1,457
3,310,848 1,949,828
2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
179,730 826,095
43 31
157 111
105,174 185,915
13,651 638,066
298,75! 1,650,21
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16. Other liabilities 2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
Interest payable 7,068 10,556
Other payables and accruals 34,548 41,430
41,616 51,986
17. Share capital

18.

Number of ordinary
shares of RM1 each

2015 2014
'000 '000
Authorised
Ordinary shares of RM1 each 380,000 380,000
Issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of RM1 each 331,000 331,000
Amount
2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
Authorised
Ordinary shares of RM1 each 380,000 380,000
Issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of RM1 et 331,00( 331,00(
Reserves
18.1 Statutory reserve
The statutory reserve is maintained in compliance with Sedmf the Financial Services Act, 2013
(FSA) and is not distributable as cash dividends.
18.2 Available-for-sale reserve
Available-for-sale reserve captures the fair value adjustment @mdial assets which are classified as
available-for-sale and its corresponding effect on deferred tax. Theveess non-distributable and
cumulative fair value adjustments will be reversedrtipor loss upon disposal of the assets.
18.3 Regulatory reserve
The Bank maintained a minimum level of impairment provisiortsiol is in excess of the collective
impairment provisions required under MFRSs. An amount of RMA3.mnillion (2014: RM11.051
million) from the retained earnings as of 31 Decembeb 2@k been reserved for this purpose.
18.4 Retained earnings

The Finance Act 2007 introduced the single tier tax systerh effect from 1 January 2008. Under this

system, tax on a company's profits is a final taxdindiends are tax exempt in the hands of shareholders.
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19. Interestincome

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
Loans, advances and financing:
- Interest income other than from impaired loans 84,120 60,300
Money at call and deposit placements with finanicisitutions 32,361 68,612
Financial investments available-for-sale 6,180 3,997
Others 46 15
122,707 132,924
Of which:
Interest income earned on impaired loans,
advances and financing - 34
Interest expense
Deposits and placements of banks and other finamsttutions (18,170) (46,102)
Deposits from customers (34,373) (27,872)
Others (25) (47)
(52,568) (74,021)
Net interest income 70,139 58,903

All items of interest income and expense were recognised frontsaasd liabilities that were not at fair value
through profit or loss

20. Feeincome

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
Fee income:
- Commission 41 43
- Service charges and fees 2,148 1,429
- Loan processing fees 942 674
- Syndication fees 1,184 293
- Guarantee fees 3,178 2,560
- Commitment fees 669 1,200
- Other loans related fees income 300 1,249
- Other fees income 5,321 4,046
13,783 11,494
Fee expense:
- Brokerage fees (24) (57
- Other fees expense (146) (347,
(170) (404)
Net fee income 13,613 11,090
21. Net trading income
2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
Net gains from dealing in foreign exchange 2,168 10,335
Net gains arising from derivative trading 20,556 723
Net unrealised revaluation losses in foreign exchange (364) ©)
Net unrealised gains arising from derivative trading 540 4,487

22,900 15,538
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22.

23.

24.

Other operating expenses

Personnel costs:
- Salaries, allowance and bonuses (excluding Directargimeration)
- Directors’ remuneration (Note 26 (c))
- Pension fund contributions
- Other staff costs
Promotion and marketing related expenses:
- Advertising and promotion
- Others
Establishment costs:
- Depreciation of plant and equipment
- Amortisation of intangible asset
- Rental
- Others
Administrative expenses:
- Auditors’ remuneration

« statutory audit fees

- overprovision in prior year

* audit related services
- Professional fees
- Licence fee
- Membership fee
- Others

Allowance for impairment on loans, advances andrfancing

Collective allowance for impairment
- Made during the financial year
- Written back during the financial year

Individual allowance for impairment
- Made during the financial year

Tax expense

Malaysian income tax

- Current financial year

- (Over)/under provision in prior year

Total current tax recognised in profit or loss
Deferred taxation (Note 13)

Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Effect of changes in tax rate

Total deferred tax recognised in profit or loss

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
33,143 33,766
1,395 643
2,528 2,389
5,153 3,675
1,715 577
1,367 879
2,114 2,244
520 520
4,949 3,537
1,454 1,045
155 155
(15) (14)
94 94
837 376
307 140
156 154
4,388 3,852
60,260 54,032
2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
9,199 6,082
(3,001) (3,359)
- 2,080
6,198 4,803
2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
12,553 9,393
(84) 130
12,469 9,523
(761) (2,067)
159 -
(602) (2,067)
11,867 7,456
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24. Tax expensécontinued)

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000

Reconciliation of tax expense
Profit before taxation 40,197 26,696
Income tax using Malaysian tax rate @ 25% (2014: 25%)* 10,049 6,674
Non-deductible expenses 1,743 652
Effect of changes in tax rate 159 -
(Over)/under provision of income tax expense in prior year 4) (8 130
Tax expense 11,867 7,456

* The Malaysian statutory tax rates are 25% on the estimated @idegprofit for year of assessment 2015 and
24% for the subsequent years of assessment. Consequentlyedefex assets and liabilities are measured using
these tax rates.

25. Basic earnings per ordinary share
The basic earnings per ordinary share has been calculated bagkd profit attributable to equity holder and
331,000,000 (2014: 331,000,000) ordinary shares of RMHh aissue during the financial year.

26. Significant related party transactions and balances

€)) The significant transactions of the Bank with its lirmidcompany and other related entities are as fol

2015 2014

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Holding Related Holding Related
Company Companies Company Companies

Income

Interest income

- Deposits and placements with banks and other

financial institutions 67 3,235 76 30,376

Expenses
Interest expense
- Deposits and placements with banks and other
financial institutions 6,639 3,478 3,394 4,791
Other operating expenses
- Other charges 14 7 8 7
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26. Significant related party transactions and balancegontinued)

(b)  The significant outstanding balances of the Bank wathholding company and other related entities a

follows:

2015
RM’000 RM’000
Holding Related
Company Companies

Amount due from

- Cash and short-term funds 21,901 312,426
- Deposits and placements with banks and other

financial institutions - 2,314
- Other assets - 418

Amount due to
- Deposits and placements with banks and other

financial institutions 13,229 -
- Other liabilities - -

All transactions of the Bank with its related parties are madehim ordinary course of business and on

substantially the same terms, including interest ratéh third parties.

There is no amount outstanding from key managemenbpegbas at year end.

(c) Key management personnel compensation

2014
RM’000
Holding
Company

19,625

291,908
1,219

RM’000
Related
Companies

569,504

107,600
2,422

223,249
166

The remuneration of key management personnel, being the membére Board of Directors of the

Bank, during the financial year are shown below:

Executive Director and CEO
Mr. Yuan Bin

- Salaries

- Other allowances

Non-Executive Directors’ fees
YBhg Dato’ Leong Khee Seong
Mr. Ong Ah Tin @ Ong Chee Kwee

27. Credit exposure to connected parties

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000

1,054 344
133 89
1,187 433
104 105

104 105

208 210
1,395 643
Note 22 Note 22

The credit exposures of the Bank to connected parties, as définBM’s “Guidelines on Credit Transactions

and Exposures with Connected Parties” are as follows:

Aggregate value of outstanding credit exposures toexird parties
As a percentage of total credit expos

Percentage of outstanding credit exposures to connpatéds which are
non-performing or in default

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’000
19,053 14,432
0.40% 0.30%
0% 0%
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28. Commitments and contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Bank makes various conemisnand incurs certain contingent liabilities
with legal recourse to its customers. No material ksse anticipated as a result of these transactions.

The commitments and contingencies constitute tHewiaig:

2015
Positive Value Credit Risk-
Principal of Derivative  Equivalent Weighted
Amount  Contracts » Amount * Assets *
RM’000 RM’'000 RM’000 RM’000
Credit-related exposures
Transaction-related contingent items 818,692 - 409,346 264,726
Short term self-liquidating trade-related continger 46,529 - 9,306 6,553
Other commitments, such as formal standby facilities
and credit lines, with an original maturity of:
- Exceeding one year 223,558 - 111,779 100,046
- Not exceeding one year 1,157,325 231,465 160,394
Unutilised credit card lines 26,949 - 5,390 4,042
Derivative financial contracts
Foreign exchange related contracts:
- Less than one year 754,062 7,555 21,870 10,523
Total 3,027,115 7,555 789,156 546,284
Note 8

A The foreign exchange related contracts are off-balance sheet dexifiatincial instruments whose
values change in response to changes in prices or rates (suchigs fxehange rates and interest
rates) of the underlying instruments. The underlying principabant of these derivative financial
instruments and their corresponding gross positive (derivativanfiial assets) fair values as at
respective reporting dates are as shown above.

* The credit equivalent and risk-weighted amounts are computied esedit conversion factors and
risk-weighting rules as per BNM guidelines. The credit convergactors and risk-weighting rules
were based on guidelines of the revised Capital Adggeemework on the Standardised Approach.
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28.

29.

30.

Commitments and contingenciegcontinued)

48

2014
Positive Value Credit Risk-
Principal of Derivative  Equivalent Weighted
Amount  Contracts Amount * Assets *
RM’000 RM’'000 RM’000 RM’'000
Credit-related exposures
Transaction-related contingent items 620,391 - 310,196 177,732
Short term self-liquidating trade-related continger 2,864 - 573 147
Other commitments, such as formal standby facilities
and credit lines, with an original maturity of:
- Exceeding one year 104,691 - 52,346 40,744
- Not exceeding one year 942,825 188,565 169,671
Unutilised credit card lines 20,757 - 4,151 3,114
Derivative financial contracts
Foreign exchange related contracts:
- Less than one year 806,800 592 13,647 3,589
Total 2,498,328 592 569,478 394,997
Note 8

A The foreign exchange related contracts are off-balancé déeeative financial instruments whose val
change in response to changes in prices or rates (such as foretlggngecrates and interest rates) of the
underlying instruments. The underlying principal amount ofséhéerivative financial instruments and
their correspondin gros: positive (derivative financia assets fair value: a< al respectiv reportin¢ date:

are as shown above.

*  The credit equivalent and risk-weighted amounts are computed esedit conversion factors and risk-
weighting rules as per BNM guidelines. The credit conversiotofacand risk-weighting rules were based
on guidelines of the revised Capital Adequacy Frameworthe Standardised Approach.

Lease commitments

The Bank has lease commitments in respect of rented premise$wdlich are classified as operating leases. A

summary of the long-term lease commitments are as fallows

Within one year
After one year but not more than five years

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure for plant and equiptment
- Contracted but not provided for

2015 2014

RM’000 RM’000
3,759 4,073
2,318 2,575
6,077 6,648
2015 2014

RM’000 RM’000
872 -

872 -




(Company No. 839839 M)

31. Capital adequacy

49

The total risk-weighted assets of the Bank are adetgpbased on the following approaches:

() Standardised Approach for Credit risk;
(i) Standardised Approach for Market risk;
(iii) Basic Indicator Approach for Operationalkis

The capital adequacy ratios of the Bank are andlgsdollows:

2015 2014
RM’000 RM’'000
(restated)
Common Equity Tier 1 (“CET1") Capital
Paid-up share capital 331,000 331,000
Retained earnings 30,400 18,346
Statutory reserve 40,392 26,227
Regulatory reserve 13,162 11,051
Unrealised losses on financial investments avagléibi-sale (1,413) (278)
413,541 386,346
Less: Regulatory adjustments applied in calculabib&@ET1 Capital
- Intangible asset (824) (1,344
- Deferred tax ass (4,058 (3,102
- Regulatory reserve attributable to advances and financing (13,162) (11,051
(18,044) (15,497)
Total CET1 Capital 395,497 370,849
Tier 2 Capital
allowance 17,387 11,189
Regulatory reserve 13,162 11,051
Total Tier 2 Capital 30,549 22,240
Total Capital 426,046 393,089
CET1 capital ratio 15.675% 17.887%
Tier 1 capital ratio 15.675% 17.887%
Total capital ratio 16.886% 18.960%

Breakdown of gross risk-weighted assets (“RWA"}hie various categories of risk-weights:

2015
Principal

RM’000
Total RWA for credit risk 4,869,479

Total RWA for market risk -
Total RWA for operational risk -

2014
Risk-  Principal Risk-
Weighted Weighted
Assets Assets
RM’'000 RM’'000 RM’000

2,363,908 4,616,852 1,947,772
894 - 1,968
158,249 - 123,544

4,869,47!

2,523,05. 4,616,85 2,073,28




(Company No. 839839 M) 50

32. Fair values of financial assets and financialdbilities

Recognised financial instruments

The methods and assumptions used in estimatinfgithealues of financial instruments are as follows

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

Cash and short-term funds/Deposits and placemesitvith banks and other financial institutions

For cash and short-term funds and deposits and placemetitsbaiks and other financial institutions
including interest-earning deposits, the carrying amgue a reasonable estimate of the fair values
because of their short-term nature (less than eag) yand limited credit risk.

Financial investments available-for-sale
Fair values of investment securities are estimbtexttd on broker/dealer price quotation.
Loans, advances and financing

The fair values of fixed rate loans with remaining maturigd than one year and variable rate loans are
estimated to approximate their carrying values. For fixate toans with maturity of more than one year,
the fair values are estimated based on expected future ag 6f contractual instalment payments and
discounted at prevailing rates at the respective repordiatgs offered for similar loans. In respect of
impaired loans, the fair values are deemed to approximatealrying values, net of individual assessment
impairment allowance.

Deposits from customers

The fair values of demand deposits and saving deposits imgtwithin a short period of time are the

amounts payable on demand. Fair values of fixed depositsiringt within a year are estimated to

approximate their carrying amounts. For deposits with migt@exceeding one year, the fair values are
estimated using discounted cash flows based on marketattée respective reporting dates for similar
products and maturity.

Deposits and placements of banks and other finaral institutions

The fair values of non-interest bearing deposits are equaitounts payable on demand. For deposits with
maturity exceeding one year, fair values are estimated diyodinting the estimated future cash flows based
on market rates at the respective reporting dateddposits with similar maturity.
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32. Fair values of financial assets and financialdbilities (continued)

Recognised financial instruments (continued)

Valuation of financial instruments

51

The table below analyses financial instrumentseduat fair value and those not carried at faiuedbr which fair value is disclosed, together wtibir fair values and carrying amounts

shown in the statement of financial position.

Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value of financial instruments

carried at fair value not carried at fair value Total Carrying
| Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tota” Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Totq| fair value amount
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’ 000 RM’000
2015
Financial assets
Deposits and placements with banks and other
financial institutions - - - - - - 2,314 2,314 2,314 2,314
Financial investments available-for-sale (Note 6) - 75,526 127,042 202,568 - - - - 202,568 202,568
Loans, advances and financ - - - - - - 2,527,30. 2,527,30: 2,527,30: 2,528,38i
Derivative financial assets (Note 8) - 7,555 - 7,555 - - - - 7,555 7,555
- 83,081 127,042 210,123 - - 2,529,616 2,529,616 2,739,739 2,740,825
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers - - - - - - 3,310,819 3,310,819 3,310,819 3,310,848
Deposits and placements of banks and other
financial institutions - - - - - - 298,755 298,755 298,755 298,755
Derivative financial liabilities (Note 8) - 6,965 - 6,965 - - - 6,965 6,965
- 6,965 - 6,965 - - 3,609,574 3,609,574 3,616,539 3,616,568
2014
Financial assets
Deposits and placements with banks and other
financial institutions - - - - - - 107,600 107,600 107,600 107,600
Financial investments available-for-sale (Note 6) - 55,156 - 55,156 - - - - 55,156 55,156
Loans, advances and financing - - - - - - 2,210,154 2,210,154 2,210,154 2,210,784
Derivative financial assets (Note 8) - 592 - 592 - - - - 592 592
- 55,748 - 55,748 - - 2,317,754 2,317,754 2,373,502 2,374,132
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers - - - - - - 1,949,824 1,949,824 1,949,824 1,949,828
Deposits and placements of banks and «
financial institutions - - - - - - 1,650,218 1,650,218 1,650,218 1,650,218
Derivative financial liabilities (Note 8) - 542 - 542 - - - 542 542
- 542 - 542 - - 3,600,042 3,600,042 3,600,584 3,600,588
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32. Fair values of financial assets and financialdbilities (continued)
Valuation of financial instruments (continued)

The Bank measures fair values using the following fair vdligrarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs
used in making the measurements:

« Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active mtaftr identical financial assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date.

« Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inpitiser directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from
prices). This category includes instruments valued ugijgted prices for identical or similar instruments; quoted
prices for identical or similar instruments in markets tlzeie considered less than active; or other valuation
techniques where all significant inputs are digeotiservable from market data.

« Level 3: Valuation techniques of financial assetd liabilities using significant unobservableltg This categot
includes all instruments where the valuation techniquduthes inputs not based on observable data and the
unobservable inputs have a significant effect on instrufeemluation. This category includes instruments that are
valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments whigngificant unobservable adjustments or assumptions
are required to reflect differences between theunsents.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilitibattare traded in active markets are based on quoted market
prices or dealer price quotations. Availability of obsdrleamarket prices and model inputs reduces the need for
management judgement and estimation and also reducesdbgainty associated with determination of fair values.
Availability of observable market prices and inputs variepending on the products and markets and is prone to
changes based on specific events and general morgibh the financial markets.

The determination of fair value for financial assets andficial liabilities for which there is no observable market
price requires the use of valuation techniques. For firennstruments that trade infrequently and have little @ric
transparency, fair value is less objective, and requireyinvg degrees of judgement depending on liquidity,
concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pgcassumptions and other risks affecting the sigegotrument.

Valuation techniques used to calculate fair values inckmparisons with similar financial instruments for which
market observable prices exist, discounted cash flow aiglgption pricing models and other valuation techniques
commonly used in the market. The objective of valuation mégphes is to arrive at fair value determination that
reflects the price of the financial instrument at the rejpgrtdate, that would have been determined by market
participants acting at arm’s length.

Transfer between fair value
There has been no transfer in any levels of the fair valuemguhe financial year. (2014: no transfer in either
directions).
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33.
@)

(b)

Financial risk management
Introduction and overview
The Bank has exposure to the following risks framarficial instruments:

* Credit risk

* Liquidity risk

» Market risk

* Operational risk

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposueath of the above risks, the Bank’s objectives, policies and
processes for measuring and managing risks.

Risk management framework

The Bank’s risk management policies are established tdifgi¢he risks faced by the Bank, to set appropriate risk témi
and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limitk Ranagement policies and systems are reviewed regtgarly
reflect changes in the market condition, products and sesvoffered. The Bank, through its training and management
standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplineccamstructive control environment, in which all employees
understand their roles and obligations.

The Board Risk Management Committee and Audit Committeeemgonsible for overseeing the Bank’s risk management
policies and procedures, and reviewing the adequacy ofiskenranagement framework in relation to the risks faced by
the Bank.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank due tdifeg of the Bank’s customers or counterparties in meetieg th
contractual financial obligations. The credit risk is pairity from the Bank’s cash and deposits/placements, dieacting,
trade finance and funding activities.

Management of credit risk

The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility foratersight of credit risk to the Credit Committee, CreditiBypl
Committee ("CPC") and Management Risk Management Conen(tfdRMC”). These committees are supervised by the
Senior Management Committee.

The functions of the Credit Committee are as fodow

« Ensuring prudent underwriting standards that aomsistent with the Bank's risk appetite and legdiimection

The Credit Committee ensures that the credit risks to bertedden by the Bank are controlled even prior to the origorati
stage. The criteria set forth in the underwriting standéedding direction will take into consideration the Bankisk
appetite and the client’s credit profile. These underwgitstandards are to be reviewed periodically to reflect theachic
changes in the industry and economic environment.

* Deliberation of lending propositions and cred#ated requests

Each credit facility to be extended to clients is subjectieipendent credit assessment by the Bank’s Credit Evatuati
Department, which would then be supported by the Credit Cittexenprior to escalation to the approving authority for
approval. Where necessary, mitigation measures such latecal and covenants setting, are imposed to protect the'8a
interest.

The functions of the CPC are as follows:

* Reviewing and deliberation of credit policiesjdglines, procedures and manuals

Taking the parent company’s credit policies as referenckiarconsultation with business units, the CPC is tasked to
formulate the credit policies and sets the underwritingdgads that suit the local regulatory and business regeinésn
The credit policies, which encompass amongst others, tbditcrisk assessment, risk grading, collateral requirégmen
documentary and legal requirement, are to be redewom time to time to instill the industry’s bgsactices.
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33. Financial risk managementcontinued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
» Reviewing and deliberation of the variation resgiserelated to the Bank's standard legal documfamtiending business

As part of the initiatives of further enhancing the credibgess of the Bank, the CPC is identified as a platform to
collectively deliberate and making decision on the vasiatiequests related to the Bank's standard legal docunitnias.

to the tabling of such request to the CPC, the variation retgusre to be routed directly to the functional department fo
independent assessment.

The functions of the MRMC are as follows:
* Reviewing the Bank's credit risk management lerofi

Ongoing risk assessment and monitoring of the Bank's exgssa vital to maintain the quality of the Bank's loan assets
The credit limits are monitored periodically. Concenwatirisk arising from over-exposure to counterparties, stdes
and geographies are managed through regular monitoringegnadting. Stress test is conducted in the event of a major
shift in the economic indicators or whenever a mefmnge is anticipated.

» Reviewing the credit risk appetite of the Bank

Assess and recommend the adequacy of the Bank’s creditpsitite which should be in line with the expectations of the
shareholders, regulators, and other stakeholders. dsrabponsible to ensure that the appropriate risk liniggers are
imposed within the Bank’s approved risk appetituiarly.

* Ensure effective credit risk management is icpla

The MRMC ensures an effective credit risk management psotiest takes into account the risk profiles, size and
complexity of the Bank. This includes the credit risk id&nétions, measurement, controlling, monitoring and répg.
The process is continuously reviewed and enharcbd tn line with the industry’s best practices.

Allowances for impairment

The Bank employs a credit risk grading system as a tool foerdghing the credit risk profile of borrowers using
appropriate form of scorecards. The credit grades are usadasis to support the underwriting of credit and are mapped
according to the credit rating scales of majorrimitional credit rating agencies.

A collective impairment allowance is performed on “coliget basis” on the Bank’s loan portfolio using statistical
techniques with the necessary adjustments to the crediegrand probability of defaults of the respective credidgra
bands of the loans in order to guard against the risk of judgerarror in the credit grading process. Although the credit
grading process would involve qualitative assessmentiwiBisubject to judgement error, the loans within the samaitcre
grade band generally share the similar credit risk chariatits for collective assessment. Given the lack of histdloss
experience, the relevant market data will be tdkewonsideration to derive the model risk adjustme

In the case of individual assessment, a loan is deemed asrédphthere is objective evidence of impairment which is
triggered by certain events. In general, loans that areeqsid on time as they come due, be it the principal or interest
will be monitored closely as the likelihood of impairmentiin these past due loans is expected to be higher. The
methodology adopted for collective impairment assessraaudt the list of trigger events for individual impairment
assessment will be reviewed on a regular basigitevith the Bank’s policy and the traits of itsalo portfolio.

Loans, advances and financing past due but notirega

Past due but not impaired loans, advances and financingoaresffinancing where the customer has failed to make a
principal or interest/profit payment when contractuallledand includes loans/financing which are due one or moys da
after the contractual due date but less than tmaehs.
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33. Financial risk managementcontinued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
Write-off policy
Clear write-off policy is established to stipulate the apging authority, escalation process and circumstanceerumidich
a loan can be written-off. The determination is made aftersering information such as the occurrence of signitican

changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial positionhstiat the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligatiothat
proceeds from collateral will not be sufficienttay back the exposure.

(i) Exposure to credit risk

2015 Loans, Loans,
Advances Advances
and Financing and Financing Investment
to Customers to Banks* Securities
RM'000 RM'000 RM’'000
Carrying amount 2,528,388 1,300,137 202,568

Assets at amortised cost
Individually impaired 2,080 - -
Allowance for impairment (2,080) - -

Past due but not impaired
Carrying amount 104 - -

Past due comprises

- Less than one month 86 - -
- Between one to two months 15 - -
- Between two to three months 3 - -

104 - -

Neither past due nor impaired

- Pass 2,545,671 1,300,137 202,568
Collective allowance for impairment (17,387) - -
Carrying amount - amortised cost 2,528,388 1,300,137 202,568

Available-for-sale (AFS)
Neither past due nor impaired

- Pass - - 202,568
Carrying amount - fair value - - 202,568

In addition to the above, the Bank had entered into lendimgroitments of RM1.07 billion. The Bank had also issued
financial guarantee contracts for which the maximum amgaytable by the Bank, assuming all guarantees are called on,
is RM623 million.

*

Consists of cash and short-term funds and depasiisplacements with banks and other financialtirigins.

The Bank holds collateral against loans, advances anddingrio customers in the form of fixed deposits, propertied a
guarantees. Estimates of fair value are basedeowatlue of collateral assessed at the time of twagination.
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33. Financial risk managementcontinued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Exposure to credit risk (continued)

2014 Loans, Loans,
Advances Advances
and Financing and Financing Investment
to Customers to Banks* Securities
RM'000 RM'000 RM’'000
Carrying amount 2,210,784 1,747,095 55,156

Assets at amortised cost
Individually impaired 2,080 - -
Allowance for impairment (2,080) - -

Past due but not impaired
Carrying amount 176 - -

Past due comprises

- Less than one month 144 - -
- Between one to two months 13 - -
- Between two to three months 19 - -

176 - -

Neither past due nor impaired

- Pass 2,221,797 1,747,095 55,156
Collective allowance for impairment (11,189) - -
Carrying amount - amortised cost 2,210,784 1,747,095 55,156

Available-for-sale (AFS)
Neither past due nor impaired
- Pass - - 55,156

Carrying amount - fair value - - 55,156

In addition to the above, the Bank had entered into lendimgniitments of RM1.41 billion. The Bank had also issued
financial guarantee contracts for which the maximum amgaytble by the Bank, assuming all guarantees are called on,
is RM865 million.

*

Consists of cash and short-term funds and depasilsplacements with banks and other financialtirigins.

The Bank holds collateral against loans, advances anddingrio customers in the form of fixed deposits, propertied a
guarantees. Estimates of fair value are basedeowatlue of collateral assessed at the time of twayination.



(Company No. 839839 M) 57

33. Financial risk managementcontinued)
(b) Credit risk (continued
(ii) Concentration by sector and geographical Idoat

The Bank monitors the concentration of credit risk by se@od by geographical distribution. An analysis of the
concentration of credit risk as at the respectiporting dates are shown below:

2015 2014

Loans, Loans,
Advances Advances

and Financing and Financing

to Banks* to Banks*

RM'000 RM'000

Carrying amount 1,300,137 1,747,095

Concentration of credit risk based on sector

Financial services 784,824 962,299
Government and central bank 515,313 784,796

1,300,137 1,747,095

Concentration of credit risk based on geographicabcation

Malaysia 963,495 1,050,365
East Asia 65,640 435,782
South East Asia 45,828 229,654
United States of America 220,820 30,584
Europe 1,988 211
Oceania 2,366 499

1,300,137 1,747,095

* Consists of cash and short-term funds and depasiisplacements with banks and other financiaiturtgins.

Concentration of credit risk by geographical distributifm loans, advances and financing is measured based on the
location of the borrower.

Concentration by sector and geographical distributiorldans, advances and financing to customers are disclos#t un
Notes 7 (iv) and 7 (vi) to the financial statements

2015 2014
Investment Investment
Securities Securities
RM’000 RM’000
Carrying amount 202,568 55,156
Concentration of credit risk based on sector
Financial services 127,042 -
Government and central bank 70,553 50,185
Others 4973 4971
202,568 55,156
Concentration of credit risk based on geographicdbcation
Malaysia 75,526 55,156
China 127,042 -
202,568 55,156

Concentration of credit risk by geographical distributfoninvestment securities is measured based on the locatfitre
issuer.
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33. Financial risk managementcontinued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(iii) Derivatives risk

The Bank’s derivatives may give rise to risks in the eventdbenterparty defaults. Control measures, such as limihget
and monitoring, are in place to manage the risk.

(iv) Settlement risk

The Bank’s activities may give rise to risks at the time oflsatent of transactions and trades. Settlement risk isiskeof
loss due to the failure of an entity to honouwitdigations to deliver cash or other assets agaciuially agreed.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risks are the risks when the Bank fails to raisedarto meet the present or future demand of customers or
counterparties at a reasonable cost. The potential liguitiks of the Bank mainly include customers’ premature and
collective withdrawal, overdue repayment from debtorssmatched asset-liability maturity structure and diffimd in
realisation of assets.

Management of liquidity risk

The management of liquidity and funding is mainly carried wucompliance with BNM’s liquidity coverage ratio; and
practices and limits set by the Assets and Liabilities Cottemi(“ALCO”). The Bank maintains a strong liquidity positi
and constantly manages the liquidity profile of its asd&bjlities and commitments to ensure that cash flow rezmints
are appropriately balanced and all obligationsnageaccordingly.

It is imperative for the Bank to continuously seek and mainteew sources of funding to increase and diversify its fogdi
base.

Cash flows payable by the Bank (financial liab##) based on remaining contractual maturity:

| 2015 |
On demand Due within Between 3to Between 1to
3 months 12 months 3 years Total
RM'000 RM’000 RM'000 RM’'000 RM’'000
Deposits from customers 1,269,189 1,203,038 843,098 12,333 3,327,658
Deposits and placements of banks
and other financial institutions 177,060 76,528 48,424 - 302,012
Derivative financial liabilities - 3,844 3,121 - 6,965
Other liabilities 34,548 - - - 34,548
1,480,797 1,283,410 894,643 12,333 3,671,183
| 2014 |
On demand Due within Between 3to Between 1to
3 months 12 months 3 years Total
RM’'000 RM’000 RM’'000 RM’'000 RM’000
Deposits from customers 393,668 1,247,662 320,581 1,463 1,963,374
Deposits and placements of banks
and other financial institutions 86,460 1,069,261 503,669 - 1,659,390
Derivative financial liabilities - 438 104 - 542
Other liabilities 41,430 - - - 41,430

521,558 2,317,361 824,354 1,463 3,664,736
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33.

(©

(d)

Financial risk managementcontinued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The balances in the above table will not agree directly with halances in the statement of financial position as tHe tab
incorporates, on an undiscounted basis, all castsftelating to principal and future interest pagtse

Cash flows payable in respect of deposits from customergiangarily contractually repayable on demand or at short
notice. However, in practice, short term depodliahees remain stable and cash flow position has hetively managed.

Derivative financial instruments measured at their fairlues together with their corresponding contract/notional
amounts:

| 2015 |
Contract/
Nominal  Positive Fair Negative Fair
Amount Value value
Uptolyear UptolYear Uptol Year
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Trading derivatives
Foreign exchange contracts
- Currency forwards and spots 580,512 7,166 6,961
- Currency Swaps 173,550 389 4
754,062 7,555 6,965
| 2014 |
Contract/
Nominal  Positive Fair Negative Fair
Amount Value value
Uptolyear UptolYear UptolYear
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Trading derivatives
Foreign exchange contracts
- Currency forwards and spots 800,655 336 541
- Currency Swaps 6,145 256 1
806,800 592 542

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from movements in neinkariables, such as interest rates, credit spreads agidifior
exchange rates.

Management of market risk

The Bank’s market risk management is the process of idémgifyneasuring, monitoring, controlling and reporting ker
risk for the purposes of setting up and enhancing the maikktmanagement system, specifying responsibilities and
process, determining and standardising the measuremprdaahes, limit management indicators and market riskrtepo
controlling and mitigating market risk and improving theéé of market risk management. The objective of market risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposutbgvai tolerable level and maximise risk-adjusted return
according to the Bank’s risk preference.

The Bank does not engage in any proprietary trading a&sitexposures arising from normal banking activities (dépp
loans, foreign exchange, etc) are hedged accordingly téamisie and preferably eliminate exposure to market risk. All
risks related to treasury money market activitidshve managed according to, and within the authetirisk limits.
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33. Financial risk managementcontinued)
(d) Market risk (continued)

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that arises as a result aements in the relative value of currencies. The Bank is
exposed to foreign currency risk on transactions that aneméated in currencies other than its functional currefitye
Bank minimises its exposure to foreign currency risk thtolgdging and limiting the net open position of the foreign
exchange portfolio.

The following tables summarise the assets, liabilities @etdopen position by currency as at the reporting date, wieh
mainly in Ringgit Malaysia, United States Dollars and ClimdRenminbi. Other currencies mainly include exposure to
Euro, Australia Dollars, Great Britain Pounds, Hong Kongll&xg, Japanese Yen, Canadian Dollars and Singapore

Dollars.
Malaysia United States Chinese
Ringgit Dollars Renminbi Others Total
RM'000 RM’000 RM’'000 RM'000 RM'000
2015
ASSETS
Cash and short-term funds 521,216 672,630 83,66 19,314 1,297,823
Deposits and placements with banks
and other financial institutions - - 2,314 - 2,314
Financial investments available-for-sale 75,526 - 127,042 - 202,568
Loans, advances and financing 900,615 1,548,023 79,750 - 2,528,388
Derivative financial assets 191 7,098 71 195 7,555
Other assets 4,141 125 418 - 4,684
Statutory deposits with Bank
Negara Malaysia 22,460 - - - 22,460
Plant and equipment 3,875 - - - 3,875
Intangible asset 824 - - - 824
Deferred tax assets 4,058 - - - 4,058
TOTAL ASSETS 1,532,906 2,227,876 294,258 19,509 4,074,549
LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers 962,758 2,129,675 171,314 47,101 3,310,848
Deposits and placements of banks
and other financial institutions 118,173 17,174 163,406 2 298,755
Derivative financial liabilities 2,270 173 4,518 4 6,965
Other liabilities 30,476 9,755 1,374 11 41,616
Provision for taxation 2,824 - - - 2,824

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,116,501 2,156,777 340,612 47,118 3,661,008
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33. Financial risk managementcontinued)
(d) Market risk (continued)
Malaysia United States Chinese
Ringgit Dollars Renminbi Others Total
RM'000 RM’000 RM’'000 RM’'000 RM'000
2014
ASSETS
Cash and short-term funds 850,436 273,663 499,260 16,136 1,639,495
Deposits and placements with banks
and other financial institutions - 59,695 7,905 - 107,600
Financial investments available-for-sale 55,156 - - - 55,156
Loans, advances and financing 626,552 1,495,467 88,765 - 2,210,784
Derivative financial assets - 411 181 - 592
Other assets 4,370 1,149 1,645 - 7,164
Statutory deposits with Bank
Negara Malaysia 10,340 - - - 10,340
Tax recoverable - - - - -
Plant and equipment 4,303 - - - 4,303
Intangible asset 1,344 - - - 1,344
Deferred tax assets 3,102 - - - 3,102
TOTAL ASSETS 1,555,603 1,830,385 637,756 16,136 4,039,880
LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers 933,734 891,412 109,166 15,516 1,949,828
Deposits and placements of banks
and other financial institutions 198,602 916,085 535,530 1 1,650,218
Derivative financial liabilities 295 162 85 - 542
Other liabilities 21,704 29,479 796 7 51,986
Provision for taxation 960 - - - 960
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,155,295 1,837,138 645,577 15,524 3,653,534
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33. Financial risk management(continued)

(d) Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

In respect of interest-earning financial assets and istdyearing financial liabilities, the following tablesdicate their effective interest rates at the respectivarza
sheet dates and the periods in which they repriceadure, whichever is earlier.

2015

Assets
Cash and short-term funds
Deposits and placements with banks
and other financial institutions
Financial investments available-for-<
Loans, advances and financing:
- performing
Other assets »

Total assets

Liabilities

Deposits from customers

Deposits and placements of banks

and other financial institutions
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity
Total liabilities and equity

On-balance sheet interest

sensitivity gap
Total interest sensitivity gap

the statement of financial position.

[ Non-trading book

Uptol >1-3 >3-12 Non-interest Trading
month months months 1-5years Over5years sensitive Total
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
1,280,259 - - - - 17,564 - 1,297,823
- 2,314 - - - - - 2,314
- - 127,04: 75,52¢ - - - 202,56¢
1,805,192 680,672 38,927 1,592 2,005 - - 2,528,388
- - - - 43,456 - 43,456
3,085,451 682,986 165,969 77,118 2,005 61,020 - 4,074,549
1,046,813 552,439 831,719 852,184 - 27,693 - 3,310,848
215,862 36,290 46,603 - - - 298,755
- - - - - 51,405 - 51,405
1,262,675 588,729 878,322 852,184 - 79,098 - 3,661,008
- - - - - 413,541 - 413,541
1,262,675 588,729 878,322 852,184 - 492,639 - 4,074,549
1,822,776 94,257 (712,353)  (775,066) 2,005 (431,619) -
1,822,776 94,257 (712,353)  (775,066) 2,005 (431,619) -

Effective
interest
rate

1.41

3.50
3.8¢

3.77

2.57

141

Other assets include other assets, statutory depositBMM, derivatives financial assets, plant and equipmenéngible asset and deferred tax assets as disclosed in

62
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33. Financial risk management(continued)

(d) Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

| Non-trading book | Effective
2014 Uptol >1-3 >3-12 Non-interest ~ Trading interest
month months months 1-5years Over5years sensitive blo Total rate
RM’000 RM’'000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’'000 RM’000 RM’'000 RM’'000 %
Assets
Cash and short-term funds 1,629,245 - - - - 10,250 - 1,639,495 2.54
Deposits and placements with banks

and other financial institutions - 65,023 42,577 - - - - 107,600 3.06
Financial investments available-for-sale - - - 55,156 - - - 55,156 3.63
Loans, advances and financing:

- performing 1,443,901 687,81( 77,21 162 1,69¢ - - 2,210,78 3.31
Other assets - - - - - 26,845 - 26,845 -
Total assets 3,073,151 752,833 119,788 55,319 1,694 37,095 - 4,039,880
Liabilities
Deposits from customers 985,461 620,412 312,887 118 - 30,950 - 1,949,828 1.64
Deposits and placements of banks

and other financial institutions 836,298 301,393 499,356 - - 13,171 - 1,650,218 2.16
Other liabilities - - - - - 53,488 - 53,488 -
Total liabilities 1,821,759 921,805 812,243 118 - 97,609 - 3,653,534
Equity - - - - - 386,346 - 386,346
Total liabilities and equity 1,821,759 921,805 812,243 118 - 483,955 - 4,039,880
On-balance sheet interest

sensitivity gap 1,251,392 (168,972) (692,455) 55,201 1,694 (446,860) -

Total interest sensitivity gap 1,251,392 (168,972) (692,455) 55,201 1,694 (446,860) -

Other assets include other assets, statutory depositBMM, derivatives financial assets, plant and equipmenéngible asset and deferred tax assets as disclosed in
A the statement of financial position.
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33. Financial risk managementcontinued)
(d) Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

An analysis of the Bank's sensitivity to an increase or daseein market interest rates, assuming no
asymmetrical movement in yield curves and a con$it@@ncial position, are as follows:

(i) Sensitivity of projected net interest

100 bps* 100 bps*
Parallel Parallel
Increase Decrease
RM’000 RM’000
At 31 December 2015 18,063 (18,063)
At 31 December 2014 9,340 (9,340)

*bps - basis points

(i) Sensitivity of reported reserves in “other cqrehensive income” to interest rate movements

100 bps* 100 bps*
Parallel Parallel
Increase Decrease
RM’000 RM’000
At 31 December 2015 (2,007) 2,007
At 31 December 2014 (1,106) 1,106

*bps - basis points
(e) Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss angsifrom a wide variety of causes associated with the
Bank’s processes, personnel, technology and infrasteictund from external factors other than credit, market
and liquidity risk.

Every department is responsible for understanding the adip@al risks inherit in its material products,
activities, processes and systems. They are responsibleefananagement of operational risk on a day-to-day
basis. The responsibility is supported by the developmérda Bank-wide standard for the management of
operational risk in the following areas:

* requirement for appropriate segregation of dutieduding the independent authorisation of tratisas
« requirements for the reconciliation and monitgrof transactions

« compliance with regulatory and other legal regurients

» documentation of controls and procedures

 development of contingency plans

« training and professional development

« ethical and business standards

« risk mitigation, including insurance where apabte
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34. Capital management

Regulatory capital

The Bank’s lead regulator, BNM, sets and monitors capitquirement for the Bank. The Bank is required to
comply with the provisions of the Basel Il frameWwadn respect of regulatory capital adequacy.

The Bank adopts a prudent and forward-looking capital mamesmt approach to ensure it has adequate capital
to support its operations at all times. On top of the minimegutatory capital requirements, a buffer is added
on to arrive at the Bank’s internal capital target to enswtegaiacy of capital to support the current and
anticipated business growth. Internal Capital Adequace8sment Process (“ICAAP”) is formulated to identify
the material risks in the business. The material risk afegtsare taken into consideration are credit risk, market
risk, operational risk, credit concentration risk, ligitydrisk, interest rate risk in banking book, complianceris
strategic risk as well as reputation risk.

Internal capital assessment is carried out to determinketted of internal capital required by the Bank based on

the Pillar 1 and 2 requirements as well as actual resultsegptbceding financial year (as the base case). Capital
plan, business plan and budget are approved by the Boardreftbis on annual basis. The business plan in
particular would set out the Bank'’s risk appetite to be i with the lending direction and business strategies
for the coming year. Senior Management is responsible ioramgsa smooth development and implementation

of the ICAAP policy as well as effective systems and processe in place. The Bank’s performance against

the internal capital level is reviewed on a regular basisheySenior Management. Should there be a need for
capital raising exercise, it will be presentedie Board of Directors for approval.

The Bank undertakes stress test exercise on half yearlg basissess the Bank’s capability to withstand the
adverse environment. The stress test will at least coveexieptional but plausible event and the worst case
scenario. The possible impact to the Bank due to occurrehadwerse events, i.e. significant deterioration in

borrowers’ credit profile, decline in collateral valueosion in the Bank’s net interest margin and sizeable
foreign exchange loss will be examined. The results of thessttest together with the proposed mitigating

actions shall be tabled to the Senior ManagemehttenBoard of Directors for deliberations.

The Bank’s regulatory capital are analysed as¥adlo

(@) Tier 1 Capital, which comprises the followsng

e Common Equity Tier 1 (“CET1") Capital, which includes ondry share capital, share premium, retained
earnings (net of dividends declared), statutory reserdeodimer regulatory adjustments relating to items that are
included in equity but are treated differently éapital adequacy purpose.

« Additional Tier 1 Capital, which consists of instrumertiatare issued and paid-up, subordinated to depositors
and perpetual in nature (amongst all other criteria) whighret included in CET1 Capital, the share premium
arising from issuance of such instruments as well as thdatmy adjustments in relation to the calculation of
Additional Tier 1 Capital.

(b) Tier 2 Capital includes collective impairment allowasc(excluding collective impairment allowances
attributable to financing classified as impaired)l aegulatory reserve.



